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Investment Objective

The objective of the Company is to provide 
shareholders with long-term capital appreciation, and
net asset value growth in excess of the FTSE All-Share
Index, from investment in unquoted companies.

The Company provides investors with exposure to a
diversified portfolio of private equity investments in the
UK and other Western European countries.

One year Three years Five years Seven years Ten years
% pa % pa % pa % pa % pa

Share price 62.0 19.3 13.0 16.3 16.1
Net asset value 25.8 10.4 9.2 11.7 14.8
FTSE All-Share Index 12.8 1.8 (3.0) 2.8 8.1
FTSE SmallCap Index 14.0 4.9 0.2 5.2 7.6

Based on the Company’s share price at 31 December 2004 and allowing for dividends to be reinvested, an investment of £1,000 ten years
ago would now be worth £4,445. An equivalent FTSE All-Share Index return would be worth £2,171.

Historic total return performance
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Financial highlights

At At
Attributable to ordinary shareholders 31 December 2004 31 December 2003 % change

Assets

Net assets (£’000) 120,025 96,965 23.8

Net assets per share 476.5p 385.0p 23.8

Share price (mid-market) 451.5p 289.5p 56.0

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2004 31 December 2003 % change

Revenue

Net revenue (£’000) 2,649 3,969 (33.3)

Earnings per share 10.5p 15.8p (33.3)

Dividend per share 8.0p 12.0p (33.3)

Performance record

Net assets Net asset Revenue Earnings Dividends
Year attributable value per Ordinary available per per
ended to ordinary ordinary share Gross for ordinary ordinary ordinary
31 December shareholders share price revenue shareholders share share

£’000 p p £’000 £’000 p p

1994 28,670 148.8 133.0 1,358 (344) (4.2) 1.20

1995 49,029 189.1 140.0 2,948 1,478 5.7 4.50 

1996 60,313 232.6 176.0 2,717 1,276 4.9 4.50 

1997 66,796 257.6 193.0 3,563 1,688 6.5 4.95 

1998 66,851 257.8 208.0 2,495 1,359 5.2 4.95 

1999 89,863 346.5 289.0 3,901 2,481 9.6 8.00 

2000 103,521 411.0 356.5 7,332 4,623 17.9 14.50 

2001 95,795 380.3 294.0 3,893 2,420 9.6 8.00 

2002 83,837 332.9 219.5 3,528 2,148 8.5 8.00 

2003 96,965 385.0 289.5 7,106 3,969 15.8 12.00

2004 120,025 476.5 451.5 4,905 2,649 10.5 8.00

Financial Highlights and Performance Record
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Chairman’s Statement

I am pleased to report that the
Company’s net asset value per share
(NAV) has increased over the year by
23.8%, from 385.0p at the beginning of
the year to 476.5p on 31 December
2004. Over the same period, the total
return (NAV plus dividend) was 25.8%,
compared with the FTSE All-Share
Index and the FTSE SmallCap Index,
which rose by 12.8% and 14.0%
respectively.

Revenue for the year was 10.5p per
share, compared with 15.8p in 2003. As
usual, the dividend is set by reference
to the level required to ensure that the
Company retains Investment Trust
Status for tax purposes: accordingly
the Board is recommending a final
dividend for the year ended
31 December 2004 of 8.0p per share
(2003: 12.0p).

I am also glad to report that during the
year, having met all of the qualifying
criteria, the Company became a
constituent of the FTSE All-Share
Index.

The Company invested £21.9 million in
new and follow-on investments and
realised £47.1 million in cash. Details
are given in the Investment Manager’s

Review, which starts on page 6. As at
31 December 2004, the Company’s
liquid resources, together with its
£25 million borrowing facility,
amounted to £38.1 million.

Although none of the Company’s
ordinary shares was bought back
during the year, at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting the Board will
again be seeking a renewal of the
power to purchase shares in the
market for cancellation. From 
1 December 2003, investment trusts
have been able to buy shares, hold
them in treasury and subsequently
re-issue them. The Board will keep the
matter under review.

2004 has seen a number of changes to
the Board. Tony Crook and Michael
Glover retired during the year after 15
and 13 years respectively as directors.
During this time they made a
distinguished contribution to our
deliberations and we wish them well.
We were fortunate in recruiting Roger
Mountford and Andrew Murison, both of
whom have much relevant experience
valuable to the business.

Turning now to my own position, I have
been a director and chairman for 13

years and during the year reached my
70th birthday. I therefore propose to
retire from the Board at the conclusion
of the forthcoming AGM in April. The
Board has appointed Roger Mountford
to succeed me as chairman and he will
assume this role on my retirement.

Overall 2004 has been a successful year
for the Company. Whilst we live in times
of considerable political and economic
uncertainty, from which no business can
be totally insulated, I believe that
HgCapital Trust is in a strong position
and I hand over to my successor with
confidence in its future.

David Bucks
8 March 2005

The Company continues to demonstrate
strong long-term performance, consistently
out-performing public equity markets.
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Ten-year total return performance



4

H
gC

apital Trust plc
A

nnual report and accounts 2004

Historic Total Return Performance

Over the last ten years, the Company
has consistently achieved strong
returns. Its long-term performance and
low volatility originate from exposure to
a diversified portfolio of small-cap
stocks.

Private equity is the medium to long-
term financing of unquoted companies
that have potential for significant growth
in value. Investment can be at many
stages of the life of the company, from
early stage to expansion, to leveraged
buy-outs of established companies.

The objective is to increase value
through effective stock selection and
active management before realising the
investment by way of a trade sale or
flotation on the public markets, typically
within three to five years. Established
private equity managers enjoy a high
level of expertise and quality deal flow.

Private equity investments by their
nature are relatively long-term and
illiquid. However, they can produce very
attractive returns. Since 1987
cumulative private equity returns have
outperformed all principal UK
comparative asset classes.

Individual private equity investments
may be perceived as high-risk.
However, a diversified portfolio of
established businesses significantly
mitigates this risk.

A private equity investment trust offers
the opportunity to participate in a
portfolio of mainly unlisted companies
that are generally valued at a discount
to their quoted peers. By buying shares
in an investment trust, which are freely
traded, the investor also benefits from
liquidity of stock.

Compared with investment in the public
markets, a private equity investor has
significant advantages:

– a far greater choice of companies in
which to invest

– the ability to conduct detailed
market, financial, legal and
management due diligence before
investment

– on average a lower valuation entry
price compared with quoted
markets

– the ability to act like an owner
rather than a fund manager, with
the benefit of representation on 
the board

– the ability to attract high-calibre
management relative to the size of
the business and to align
management’s interests to the
success of the investment by the
prospect of high rewards for
realising strong capital gain
performance

– the longer-term nature of private
equity enables the investor to buy
when they see good value, develop
the company to become attractive to
new owners and to sell when
demand is high

Not all investment trusts will provide
high returns. Nevertheless, the
selection of a well-resourced manager
with a carefully thought out investment
strategy that offers a diversified
portfolio of companies, across a
number of industrial sectors and
geographies, should significantly
increase the likelihood of success and
reward the patient investor.

Consistent long-term performance with 
low volatility of investment returns.

One year Three years Five years Seven years Ten years
% pa % pa % pa % pa % pa

Share price 62.0 19.3 13.0 16.3 16.1
Net asset value 25.8 10.4 9.2 11.7 14.8
FTSE All-Share Index 12.8 1.8 (3.0) 2.8 8.1
FTSE SmallCap Index 14.0 4.9 0.2 5.2 7.6

Based on the Company’s share price at 31 December 2004 and allowing for dividends to be reinvested, an investment of £1,000 ten years
ago would now be worth £4,445. An equivalent FTSE All-Share Index return would be worth £2,171.
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The Investment Manager’s Strategy

Our goal is to produce high
absolute returns over the long
term from a well-diversified
portfolio of investments in Western
Europe, which are superior to the
returns generated by public equity
markets.

Over the past ten years we have
achieved our goal. Most of our
capital is deployed in management
buy-outs of established companies
that have values ranging from £25
million to £250 million. In nearly
90% of cases we hold majority
positions. This allows us to
influence and control events,
particularly the method and timing
of exit from which the greatest
part of the investment return is
derived, as well as the
development of the business.

We aim to put capital to work in
fundamentally attractive
businesses that are undergoing
change, which operate in markets
that are sound and rational. We
back the best managers who can
take advantage of the
opportunities thrown up by
change.

We believe that shareholders
benefit when the management of
their companies are also partners
or co-owners and have their own
capital at risk. When managers do
own a meaningful stake in the
company they run, they behave
differently; they act like owners
and performance improves.

Making money in today’s
competitive economy demands
that private equity managers
acquire superior knowledge and
apply it to all that they do.
HgCapital’s business is built
around investment teams that are
each exclusively dedicated to the
industrial sector they follow. We
believe that deep sector
knowledge gives HgCapital a
competitive edge.

Our business is also resourced to
apply our knowledge for the
benefit of the companies in which
we invest. We are active investors
and focus companies on strategic
and operational change, designed
to accelerate profit growth and
secure attractive exit ratings.

Naturally, our business and
investment strategy evolves in a
manner that allows our clients to
take advantage of changes in the
business environment. Six years
ago we began building a business
in Germany, seen as a difficult
market. Over the past five years,
the German private equity market
has grown faster than all other
private equity markets in Western
Europe to become the second
largest. Two years ago we
identified renewable energy as an
interesting sector. In 2004 we
invested in our first wind power
generation project.

We believe that demand for private
equity will continue to grow. More
important is our belief that the
inherent market imperfections
that exist in private equity
combined with a model that allies
ownership and management, that
is directed by experienced and
sector-focused private equity
managers, will continue to deliver
attractive returns.

HgCapital is well positioned to deliver the investment
objective of the Company in an increasingly mature and
competitive asset class.
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Realised and unrealised movements in net asset value during 2004

Investment Manager’s Review

The Company’s net asset value during
the year increased from £97.0 million 
to £120.0 million. This mainly arose
from realised proceeds in excess of 
31 December 2003 book value of
£12.1 million and unrealised
movements of £11.8 million, following
strong earnings growth by companies
within the portfolio. 

The IPOs of Raymarine and Xyratex
significantly increased the values of
those businesses allowing us to realise
a proportion of our shareholding in
each. FTE, Tunstall and Rolfe & Nolan
were recapitalised, each having
achieved strong year-on-year profit
growth. Castlebeck, Bertram and The
Sanctuary also have shown a good
increase in profits. 

These companies’ achievements
considerably outweighed some poor
performances within the portfolio.
Three healthcare companies, Match,
Profiad and PBR, experienced trading
difficulties during the year; early-stage
technology companies, Acuid and
Burns e-Commerce Solutions, fell
behind their milestones; and we sold
our interest in WatchMark-Comnitel to
a secondary investor following a
decision not to participate in a highly-
dilutive fundraising.

The Company invests alongside other
clients of HgCapital. Typically, the
Company's holding forms part of a
much larger stake in buy-outs of
companies with enterprise values of
between £25 million and £250 million,
controlled by HgCapital. The
Investment Manager’s Review
generally refers to each transaction in
its entirety, apart from the tables,
which detail the Company’s
participation, or where it specifically
says otherwise. The Company currently
has an allocation of some 19% in new
investments made by HgCapital.

During the year, the Company invested a
total of £21.9 million (2003: £29.6 million)
and participated in five new investments,
three of which were management buy-
outs. The €115 million MBO of
Hirschmann Electronics earlier in the
year was HgCapital’s fourth acquisition in
Germany in fourteen months; the
£50 million MBO of Clarion Events its
second media investment in less than a
year; and the £102 million MBO of Iris
Software its third technology investment
in fourteen months. In line with
HgCapital’s expanded investment

strategy to include renewable energy
projects, the Company participated in the
£21.6 million acquisition and
construction of Tir Mostyn wind farm in
Wales. The healthcare sector provided
the final new investment of the year, the
acquisition of a 23% stake in Dutch mail-
order pharmacy, DocMorris. See page 8
for further details.

The Company realised significant
proceeds during the year, amounting to
£47.1 million (2003: £16.1 million) which

arose principally from the redemption of
loan stock and the sale of stock in
Raymarine following its flotation on the
London Stock Exchange, and from the
recapitalisation of FTE Automotive. See
page 9 for further details.

Pages 7 to 18 of the report form part of
the Investment Manager’s Review.

HgCapital
Investment Manager
8 March 2005

2004 was a strong year for realisations and 
earnings growth.

Realised proceeds in excess of 31 December 2003 book value (excludes 
gross revenue).
Unrealised movements on investments.
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Attribution analysis of current year movements in net asset value 
£’000

Opening net asset value as at 1 January 2004 96,965
Gross revenue 4,905
Expenditure (3,339)
Taxation (416)
Dividend payable (2,015)
Realised proceeds in excess of 31 December 2003 
book value (excludes gross revenue) 12,132
Unrealised movements on investments 11,793

Closing net asset value as at 31 December 2004 120,025
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Portfolio Analysis

At the end of 2004 the Company’s
portfolio consisted of 46 investments
(2003: 47), of which the fifteen principal
investments represented over 80% of
the portfolio valuation. The portfolio’s
valuation increased over the year to
£103.3 million, benefiting from profit
growth and positive cash flow,
particularly in the buy-out companies,
which led to lower gearing, and from
two flotations. 58% of the portfolio by
value is less than three years old.

Five new investments were made during
the year: three management buy-outs,
one expansion financing and one

renewable energy acquisition. Two of
the investments were in companies
based in Germany and Holland, which,
in line with HgCapital’s investment
policy, increased further the Company’s
exposure to Continental Europe.

Six investments were fully realised and
18 were partially realised. In addition
deferred sales proceeds amounting to
£0.3 million were received from Biocode
and Zarina, which were sold in 2003 and
1999 respectively. In aggregate, capital
proceeds from these realisations
produced a 23% uplift over carrying
value and a 77% uplift over cost. This

trend should continue during 2005 as a
further number of significant
investments reach maturity.

Proceeds from realisations resulted in
the Company ending the year with
£13.1 million of liquid resources. These
resources combined with a £25 million
borrowing facility position the Company
well to capitalise on new investment
opportunities over the next year.

A diversified portfolio, invested along sector lines, 
with an increasing exposure to Continental Europe.

Sector by valuation

27% Healthcare

24% Technology

17% Industrials

14% Media

  8% Leisure

  6% Consumer

  1% Renewable Energy

  3% Other

0 9898

Sector by number

11 Healthcare

10 Technology

  5 Industrials

  3 Media

  3 Leisure

  2 Consumer

  1 Renewable Energy

11 Other

0.0000000.000000 22.20000122.200001

Valuation basis

37% Earnings

30% Cost

17% Mid-market price

  8% Written down

  6% Net assets

  2% Third-party transaction

0 100100

Geographic spread

75% UK and Ireland

23% Continental Europe

  2% United States

0 100100

Asset class

71% Unquoted

15% Quoted

14% Cash and other assets

0 100100

0 4949

16% 2004

29% 2003

13% 2002

12% 2001

  7% 2000

15% 1999

  8% Pre-1999

0 4646

  5 2004

  5 2003

  3 2002

  6 2001

  5 2000

  7 1999

15 Pre-1999

Deal type

86% Buy-out

  6% Expansion

  6% Venture

  2% Fund

0 100100
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Investments

The Company invested £21.9 million.

Blue Minerva t/a Iris Software
The £102 million management buy-out
of Iris Software completed in July 2004.
Iris is the UK’s leading provider of
financial, practice management and tax
software to accountancy practices with
ICAEW research confirming it has the
best product, largest number of
customers and strongest reputation for
customer support. The company also
provides payroll, book-keeping and HR
application software to 20,000 small
businesses.

Clarion Events
The £50 million management buy-out of
Clarion Events, the largest independent
exhibition and events business in the
UK, completed in October 2004. The
company owns, develops and exploits a
portfolio of 30 business and consumer
shows including the ‘Top Drawer’
giftware trade shows and the ‘Fine Art
& Antiques’, ‘Baby’, ‘Caravan & Outdoor’
and ‘House & Garden’ shows. It also
organises third party events, such as
show-jumping championships. Since
new management took over in 2001,
Clarion Events has doubled in size by
expanding existing and launching new
shows.

Hirschmann Electronics
The €115 million management buy-out
of Hirschmann Electronics from
Rheinmetall AG completed in March
2004. Hirschmann is a group of four
individual businesses, with some world-
leading positions, that supply
electronics equipment and components.
Principal products include industrial
ethernet and networking equipment,
sophisticated car-antenna electronics,
television transmission equipment, and
safety systems for mobile plant
equipment such as cranes. Hirschmann
has manufacturing plants in Germany
and Hungary as well as sales and
services operations in Europe, the USA,
the Far East and South America.

Doc M t/a DocMorris
The acquisition of a 23% stake in
DocMorris completed in December
2004. Founded in 2000, DocMorris has
grown to become the largest pharmacy
serving the German market, with over
500,000 customers. Its direct-mail
service offers prescription drugs at
attractive prices by sourcing direct from
pharmaceutical manufacturers,
enabling patients and health insurers to
save money.

Hg Renewable UK t/a Tir Mostyn
The acquisition of Tir Mostyn wind farm
in Wales completed in December 2004
in a transaction valued at £21.6 million,
including construction costs. Situated in
a prime location, the 21.25mw wind
farm will produce enough power from
25 wind turbines to light 15,500 homes,
saving approximately 47,000 tonnes a
year in greenhouse gas emissions
measured against equivalent fossil fuel
generation. The facility will become
operational in the autumn of 2005 and
power will be sold under a 12-year
fixed-price index-linked contract with
the Non-Fossil Fuel Purchasing Agency.

Further Investments
Further investments were made to
acquire increased holdings in ClinPhone
and Tunstall and to fund the
development of Acuid and PBR.

Company Sector Activity Deal type Cost
£’000

Blue Minerva Ltd t/a Iris Software Technology Accounting and business software MBO 6,626
Clarion Events Ltd Media Exhibition and events organiser MBO 4,257
Hirschmann Electronics Holdings SA Industrials Electronics equipment MBO 2,669
Doc M Sarl t/a DocMorris Healthcare Direct-mail pharmacy Replacement capital 1,956
Hg Renewable UK Holdings I Ltd t/a Tir Mostyn* Renewable Energy Wind farm New build 1,015
New investments 16,523

ClinPhone Holdings Ltd Healthcare Pharmaceutical and Expansion 1,748
clinical research services

PBR Holding SA Healthcare Clinical trials MBO 1,028
Acuid Ltd Technology High-speed communication Expansion 747

technology
Tunstall Holdings Ltd Healthcare Security alarms MBO 703
Other (6) 1,188
Further investments 5,414

Total investments 21,937

* A further £0.4 million has been committed.
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Realisations

Proceeds from realisations totalled £47.1 million, 
a total return of £25.7 million.

Raymarine
In December 2004 Raymarine floated on
the London Stock Exchange at a market
capitalisation of £125.5 million,
achieving a value of four times original
investment. We have retained a stake of
around 27% in Raymarine and a seat on
the board. Further information on the
company is given on page 11.

FTE Automotive
In September 2004, FTE Automotive
completed a €225 million
recapitalisation. We realised 1.7 times
cost and increased our shareholding in
the company. Further information on
FTE is given on page 13.

Tunstall
A recapitalisation of Tunstall in October
2004, following a sustained period of
strong trading, enabled the company to
repay all of its accrued loan stock
interest. Further details on Tunstall are
given on page 12.

Rolfe & Nolan
In December 2004 Rolfe & Nolan
completed a recapitalisation, which
allowed the repayment of all loan stock
and accrued interest. Proceeds from the
recapitalisation equate to a return of 
1.4 times cost. We retain a 73% holding
in the company. Further information on
the company is given on page 16.

Travelsphere
In November 2004 Travelsphere
acquired one of its principal
competitors, Page & Moy. We took the
opportunity to releverage the business
and realised over 50% of the original
cost of investment. Further information
on Travelsphere is given on page 14.

Xtx t/a Xyratex
In June 2004, Xyratex completed an
initial public offering on NASDAQ. We
received proceeds of £10.2 million from
a placing of stock and retain over 82%
of our original shareholding. Further
information on Xyratex is given on
page 16.

Patientline
In July 2004 we realised our investment
in Patientline. We first invested in
Patientline in 1996, when it was an
early-stage company, and supported its
growth with a further two rounds of
financing. In 2001 it floated on the
Alternative Investment Market and, two
years later, gained a full listing on the
London Stock Exchange. Patientline is
now a market leader in the provision of
communication and entertainment
services to the NHS. Over the life of the
investment, we have realised a profit of
£17.5 million, which equates to a return
of 2.6 times cost.

Paddy Power
In September 2004 we completed the
realisation of our investment in Paddy
Power, with the sale of the final tranche
of shares. We have been a shareholder
in Paddy Power, Ireland’s largest chain
of bookmakers, since June 2000 and
supported the company’s flotation on
the London and Dublin Stock Exchanges
in December of that year. During that
time we have achieved a profit of
£15.6 million, equating to a return of 
5.3 times cost.

WatchMark-Comnitel Corporation
We acquired a holding in WatchMark-
Comnitel Corporation through the sale
in November 2003 of Comnitel, a
supplier of operational support systems
software for wireless communications
operators. We declined to participate in
a new financing of the company and
sold our shareholding to an existing
investor.

Total
Company Sector Exit route Cost Proceeds† return†

£’000 £’000 £’000

Raymarine plc* Consumer IPO 5,828 18,420 12,592
FTE Automotive GmbH Industrials Recapitalisation 6,805 11,702 4,897
Tunstall Holdings Ltd Healthcare Recapitalisation – 3,283 3,283
Rolfe & Nolan Holdings plc Technology Recapitalisation 2,680 3,208 528
Travelsphere Holdings Ltd Leisure Recapitalisation 146 1,692 1,546
Xtx Ltd t/a Xyratex** Technology IPO 982 1,603 621
Other (12) 886 1,219 333
Partial realisations 17,327 41,127 23,800

Patientline plc* Healthcare Sale of quoted stock 413 3,747 3,334
Paddy Power plc~ Leisure Sale of quoted stock 223 1,743 1,520
WatchMark-Comnitel Corporation Technology Secondary sale 2,405 111 (2,294)
Other (3)†† 1,008 331 (677)
Full realisations 4,049 5,932 1,883

Total realisations 21,376 47,059 25,683

* Listed on the London Stock Exchange.
** Xyratex is traded on NASDAQ.
~ Listed on the London and Dublin Stock Exchanges.
† Includes gross revenue received during the year.
†† Includes £0.3 million of deferred proceeds from Biocode and Zarina.
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Review of Principal Investments by Value

Company Sector Turnover† Cost Valuation Valuation Cumulative
£’000 £’000 % %

Tunstall Holdings Ltd Healthcare £69.1m 6,998 10,950 10.6 10.6
Xtx Ltd t/a Xyratex** Technology $335.1m 6,995 10,386 10.1 20.7
W.E.T. Automotive Systems AG Industrials €188.1m 7,623 7,816 7.6 28.3
FTE Automotive GmbH Industrials €300.4m – 7,132 6.9 35.2
Blue Minerva Ltd t/a Iris Software Technology £19.9m 6,626 6,626 6.5 41.7
Classic Copyright (Holdings) Ltd 
t/a Boosey & Hawkes Media £28.0m 6,033 6,033 5.8 47.5
Raymarine plc* Consumer £151.7m 187 5,413 5.2 52.7
Castlebeck Group Ltd Healthcare £15.3m 3,731 5,375 5.2 57.9
Clarion Events Ltd Media £25.9m 4,257 4,257 4.1 62.0
Eagle Rock Entertainment Ltd Media £30.2m 3,856 4,236 4.1 66.1
Travelsphere Holdings Ltd Leisure £88.9m 3,899 4,018 3.9 70.0
ClinPhone Holdings Ltd Healthcare £22.4m 2,361 3,648 3.5 73.5
Hoseasons Group Ltd Leisure £21.7m 2,147 2,850 2.8 76.3
Hirschmann Electronics 
Holdings SA Industrials €242.6m 2,669 2,792 2.7 79.0
Rolfe & Nolan Holdings plc Technology £21.8m 238 2,408 2.3 81.3

57,620 83,940 81.3

* Listed on the London Stock Exchange.
** Xyratex is traded on NASDAQ.
† Last audited accounts.

The top 15 investments are discussed on the following pages in the context of their sectors. A page has also been devoted to
introducing the Company’s first investment in the renewable energy sector.

The top 15 investments represent 81% of the portfolio.



The consumer team invests
in consumer goods suppliers and
retail businesses. The sector is
large and is experiencing change
as a result of consolidation
and shifts in distribution
channels and supply chains that
provide opportunities. It is also a
sector in which innovation plays a
significant role.

Our investment focus is set in the
context of the power of national
retailers and pricing pressures

associated with product sourcing
from China, the Far East and
other low-cost territories. Within
the broader consumer sector,
some of the most interesting
opportunities are either in
businesses with a sustainable
advantage, for example through
branding or product development,
or in businesses that are
underperforming and have the
capability to be improved with
superior management.

Raymarine is representative of the
type of business that attracts us; it
has a leading brand and
international distribution channels
in a market small enough not to
attract global majors, and
provides the opportunity to drive
faster revenue and profit growth
through increased investment in
new product development. 

Consumer
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Raymarine built profitability through new product
development, resulting in a highly-successful flotation.

Deal type Residual cost Valuation Valuation basis Portfolio value
£’000 £’000 %

Raymarine plc* MBO 187 5,413 Discount to quoted price 5.2

* Listed on the London Stock Exchange.

Raymarine
In December 2004 Raymarine, one
of the world’s largest suppliers of
marine electronic products to the
leisure boating market, floated on
the London Stock Exchange at a
market capitalisation of £125.5
million, achieving a value of four
times the original investment. We

acquired Raymarine in January
2001, in a management buy-out of
Raytheon’s recreational marine
division. Our investment has had a
significant impact on the company’s
growth and profitability; research
and development increased from
5.7% of turnover in 2001 to around
9% in 2003, enabling the company

to launch new and innovative
products and to maintain a
technological advantage over its
competitors. We have retained a
stake of around 27% in Raymarine
and a seat on the board. This
investment is valued at a 25%
discount to market value to reflect a
six-month lock in period.
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The healthcare team’s focus is on
buy-outs of businesses in
healthcare services, medical
technologies, pharmaceutical
services and IT applications in
healthcare.

Healthcare is a broad sector where
above-average, long-term growth in
demand is driven by demographics,
technological innovation and an
increasing propensity for consumers
to allocate expenditure to
maintaining their health. We expect

to buy companies that are leaders in
their segments, or have a visible
route to improved performance, and
that will benefit from the pressure
both to reduce payee costs and to
improve the efficacy of treatment or
business processes.

During 2004 we were outbid on 
a number of transactions in the
long-term care sector. However, 
we continue to maintain a
disciplined approach in a highly-
priced market, driven by

unprecedented liquidity levels in 
the private equity arena. 

The Government-backed National
Programme for Information
Technology in the NHS started in
2004 should present opportunities
for investment in software
applications businesses 
in the next few years. In addition, 
the number and nature of
businesses offering outsourced
services to the pharmaceutical
industry is expanding.

Healthcare

The healthcare market holds good investment potential.

Deal type Residual cost Valuation Valuation basis Portfolio value
£’000 £’000 %

Tunstall Holdings Ltd MBO 6,998 10,950 Earnings 10.6
Castlebeck Group Ltd MBO 3,731 5,375 Earnings 5.2
ClinPhone Holdings Ltd Expansion 2,361 3,648 Earnings 3.5

Tunstall
Tunstall is Europe’s leading supplier 
of personal and home reassurance
systems. Its unique emergency
communication technology provides
access to direct help for the elderly,
disabled and vulnerable. The
company is trading well, is
developing its products and is
expanding into new geographies. In
June 2004 we took the opportunity
to acquire a third-party minority
interest in Tunstall, together with
associated loan stock cum interest.
A subsequent recapitalisation of
Tunstall, following a sustained
period of strong trading, enabled
the company to repay all of its
accrued loan stock interest.

Castlebeck
Castlebeck is the UK’s largest
private provider of residential
healthcare for adults with learning
disabilities and challenging
behaviour. It operates thirteen
independent hospitals and homes
based in the north-east of England
and Scotland. The company opened
several new properties in the year,
including a new specialist autism
unit and adolescent homes.

ClinPhone
ClinPhone provides outsourcing
services to pharmaceutical
companies and clinical research
organisations testing new drugs. Its
telephone-based interactive voice-
response system allows rapid
communication of data from doctors
conducting clinical trials, enabling
drugs to be brought to market more
quickly. In December 2004 we took
the opportunity to increase our
shareholding in ClinPhone.
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Industrials

The industrials team invests in
industrial and manufacturing
businesses, targeting the
automotive, chemicals, electrical
& electronics and mechanical
engineering industries.

Industrial goods and services
remain an important part of the
European economy, most
particularly in Germany, and

presents good opportunities for
increased value. A good example is
the buy-out of Hirschmann
Electronics from industrial
conglomerate Rheinmetall, our
fourth acquisition in Germany in
fourteen months. Hirschmann,
itself a mini-conglomerate, has
many of the features we look for to
drive shareholder value.

The current relative economic
weakness in Germany, driven by
low GDP growth, complex labour
law reforms and a strong Euro,
provides a favourable environment
in which to find attractive
investment opportunities; firstly as
Germany continues to break up
industrial assets and, secondly, as
the pace of change accelerates.

W.E.T. Automotive Systems
W.E.T. Automotive Systems is the
world market leader for seat-
heating systems, supplying most of
the major European and North
American passenger car seat
manufacturers, as well as Asia from
its Chinese facility. The weak US
dollar, which has led to translation
differences, and a slow North
American market have both
impacted on the group’s
profitability, although within Europe
and China the business is
performing well. A profit
improvement programme has been
implemented and the sensors
business was sold in line with the
company’s strategy of divesting
non-core activities.

FTE Automotive
FTE Automotive is the world
market leader for clutch and brake
actuation systems, supplying most
of the major European and North
American passenger car
manufacturers. Despite difficult
market conditions in the
automotive industry, the company
continues to trade well and to win
new contracts. During the year a
small Slovakian business was
acquired and joint ventures in
Brazil and China have given FTE
access to low-cost manufacture
and direct exposure to the fastest-
growing passenger car markets in
Eastern Europe, South America
and China. In September 2004 the
business completed a €225 million
recapitalisation. We realised 1.7
times cost and increased our
shareholding in the company.

Hirschmann Electronics
The €115 million management
buy-out of Hirschmann Electronics
from Rheinmetall AG completed in
March 2004. Hirschmann is a
group of four individual
businesses, with some world-
leading positions, that supply
electronics equipment and
components. Principal products
include industrial ethernet and
networking equipment,
sophisticated car-antenna
electronics, television
transmission equipment, and
safety systems for mobile plant
equipment such as cranes.
Hirschmann has manufacturing
plants in Germany and Hungary as
well as sales and services
operations in Europe, the USA, the
Far East and South America.

The German industrials market continues to yield 
good investment opportunities.

Deal type Residual cost Valuation Valuation basis Portfolio value
£’000 £’000 %

W.E.T. Automotive Systems AG
†

P2P 7,623 7,816 Cost 7.6
FTE Automotive GmbH MBO – 7,132 Earnings 6.9
Hirschmann Electronics Holdings SA

†
MBO 2,669 2,792 Cost 2.7

†
The difference between cost and valuation is due to foreign exchange rate movements.
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Leisure

Travelsphere
Travelsphere is the UK’s largest
direct-sell escorted tour operator,
providing overseas tours for the
45+ age group to over 80 countries
worldwide. Despite difficult
conditions for the travel industry,
2004 was an encouraging year for
the business, which recorded a
17% increase in turnover. In
November 2004 Travelsphere
achieved its leading position with
the acquisition of one of its
principal competitors, Page & Moy.

Since its acquisition in 2000, the
business has had strong cash flow.
We therefore took the opportunity
to releverage the business and
realised over 50% of the original
cost of investment.

Hoseasons
Hoseasons is the leading
independent self-catering holiday
agency in the UK, offering country
cottages, holiday lodges and
parks, and boating holidays
throughout the UK and Ireland. It

also offers a growing range of
self-catering products to
customers wishing to take
holidays in Europe. During the
year the company completed the
purchase of Bowhills, a French
villa agency. However, in common
with the travel industry generally,
the European market was affected
by the strength of the euro. A
small tranche of shares was sold
to management.

The acquisition of Page & Moy established 
Travelsphere as market leader.

Deal type Residual cost Valuation Valuation basis Portfolio value
£’000 £’000 %

Travelsphere Holdings Ltd MBO 3,899 4,018 Earnings 3.9
Hoseasons Group Ltd MBO 2,147 2,850 Earnings 2.8

HgCapital’s leisure team focuses
on the travel, gaming and
entertainment industries,
including pubs, clubs, restaurants
and other leisure venues. Our
experience of this sector is deep
with investments such as Luminar
and Paddy Power producing very
attractive returns for our
investors.

In this sector especially, the
primary contributor to value
creation is entrepreneurial
managers capable of building
businesses that have a passion for
excellence and empathy with the
consumer. Accordingly, our focus
is towards businesses that are not
capital-intensive, have clear
growth potential and the capability
to take market share from
competitors. In the travel industry 

we are focusing on companies that
benefit from the proliferation of
low-cost airlines and internet
distribution. We are also looking at
the German and Dutch markets,
where competition for assets is
less intense.



Media 

HgCapital’s media team is focused
on the creation, distribution and
commercial exploitation of all
forms of content, whether for
business or for consumers, for
information or for entertainment,
whether distributed by traditional
or by digital media, including
advertising and marketing services.

Media is the most cyclical of the
industries in which we invest, 

but it is also one that offers 
above-average long-term growth.
Consolidation, globalisation,
deregulation and new
technologies, especially
convergent digital communications
technologies, are all driving
change, which generates
opportunities.

From early 2001, the European
media industry was severely

affected by economic slowdown
and by the malaise created in the
dot.com industries (technology,
media and telecommunications).
However, we are now confident
that it is in the early stages of a
medium-term upswing that should
produce increasing volumes of
attractive investment opportunities
over the coming years.
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Classic Copyright t/a Boosey 
& Hawkes
Boosey & Hawkes is the world’s
leading classical music publisher
with a 14% market share. It owns,
develops and exploits the largest
catalogue of classical music
copyrights of works by composers
such as Britten, Prokofieff,
Rachmaninoff, Ravel, Shostakovich,
Strauss and Stravinsky. Revenue is
derived from royalties when the
copyrights are played live or via
media. The business is performing
to target and has plans for
expansion in 2005.

Clarion Events
The £50 million management buy-
out of Clarion Events, the largest
independent exhibition and events
business in the UK, completed in
October 2004. The company owns,
develops and exploits a portfolio of 
30 business and consumer shows
including the ‘Top Drawer’ giftware
trade shows and the ‘Fine Art &
Antiques’, ‘Baby’, ‘Caravan &
Outdoor’ and ‘House & Garden’
shows. It also organises third-
party events, such as show-
jumping championships. Since
new management took over in
2001, Clarion Events has doubled
in size by expanding existing and
launching new shows.

Eagle Rock Entertainment
Eagle Rock Entertainment creates
and acquires audio and audio-visual
entertainment productions with a
strong focus on rock music by
mature and established
international artists. It has one of
the largest catalogues of
intellectual property rights, apart
from those held by major music and
entertainment corporations. It
exploits these rights predominantly
through DVDs where it is one of the
leading independent producers in
the world. During the year we
invested a further £0.9 million to
boost the growth of the DVD
business.

The second media investment in less than a year 
came from the acquisition of Clarion Events.

Deal type Residual cost Valuation Valuation basis Portfolio value
£’000 £’000 %

Classic Copyright (Holdings) Ltd
t/a Boosey & Hawkes P2P 6,033 6,033 Cost 5.8
Clarion Events Ltd MBO 4,257 4,257 Cost 4.1
Eagle Rock Entertainment Ltd MBO 3,856 4,236 Assets 4.1
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HgCapital is the leading mid-
market technology buy-out
investor in the UK and one of the
top two in Europe. Our technology
team covers the entire technology
sector and specialises in software,
electronics and semiconductor
markets, focused on businesses
with high intellectual property
assets and strong customer lock-
in. It has solid investment
experience in application software
for business processes in industry
verticals such as
telecommunications, financial
services and healthcare.

We look for companies with robust
profitability and cash flow, with
defendable market positions
through strong intellectual
property assets and a high degree
of revenue visibility. These types of
established technology companies
can have the potential to generate
higher growth than that available
in most other sectors, leading to
the potential of enhanced returns.
Competition tends to be more
limited than in some other sectors
because few private equity players
have the combination of a proven
track record of understanding the 

sector and its related growth
issues, and experience of
technology buy-out structuring.

Corporate spending on technology
grew by 3% in 2004, with similar
forecasts for 2005. The higher-
growth segments of business
spending are storage, security and
legislation/regulation driven. Each
of HgCapital’s MBOs in the last
three years plays into these areas:
Xyratex (storage), Rolfe & Nolan
(legislation/regulation) and Iris
Software (legislation/regulation).

Technology

Xtx t/a Xyratex
Xyratex is a global provider of
enterprise-class data storage
subsystems and storage process
technology. Storage technology
provides the means by which
business and personal IT data can
be captured, processed, stored
and retrieved in a digital form.
Since our investment in
September 2003 the company has
been trading ahead of plan and, in
June 2004, completed an initial
public offering on NASDAQ. We
received proceeds of £10.2 million
from a placing of stock and retain
over 82% of our original
shareholding. This investment is
valued at a 16% discount to

market value, in line with BVCA
guidelines, to reflect
marketability.

Blue Minerva t/a Iris Software
The £102 million management
buy-out of Iris Software completed
in July 2004. Iris is the UK’s
leading provider of financial,
practice management and tax
software to accountancy practices
with ICAEW research confirming it
has the best product, largest
number of customers and
strongest reputation for customer
support. The company also
provides payroll, book-keeping 
and HR application software to
20,000 small businesses.

Rolfe & Nolan
Rolfe & Nolan is a leading supplier
of software to the futures and
options industry. It supports over
250 bank, brokerage and exchange
clients in 20 countries. Its software
has become mission critical to its
customers, enabling them to trade
through the global derivative
exchanges. The company is
performing ahead of plan.
In December 2004 Rolfe & Nolan
completed a £20 million
recapitalisation, equating to 
1.4 times cost. We retain a 73%
holding in the company.

Deep sector expertise and experience of technology 
buy-outs led to the acquisition of Iris Software.

Deal type Residial cost Valuation Valuation basis Portfolio value
£’000 £’000 %

Xtx Ltd t/a Xyratex** MBO 6,995 10,386 Discount to quoted price 10.1
Blue Minerva Ltd t/a Iris Software MBO 6,626 6,626 Cost 6.5
Rolfe & Nolan Holdings plc P2P 238 2,408 Earnings 2.3

** Xyratex is traded on NASDAQ.
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In 2004 we established a team
dedicated to investing in Western
European renewable energy power
generation projects. The focus is
on long-term investments in
projects that use proven
technologies, including wind,
small hydro, landfill gas and
waste-to-energy, within the UK,
France, Italy, Ireland, Portugal,
Spain and Germany.

At the end of the year the team
completed its first investment, in a
wind farm based in Wales.

Renewable energy across Europe
is at a turning point and has solid
growth prospects in both the short
and long-term. It contributes to
environmental goals, reduces
dependence on foreign gas and oil
supplies and is a credible
alternative or supplement to
extensive new nuclear
construction. Renewable energy is
securing an increasing share of
the energy market and is a
rapidly-maturing industry. Power
generation is a capital-intensive
business with attractive 

investment characteristics.
Investors are looking to broaden
their alternative investment
strategies to include new asset
classes that can provide current
income and attractive returns over
the long-term. Renewable energy
can meet these objectives.

Tir Mostyn wind farm, the first renewable energy
investment.

Hg Renewable UK t/a Tir Mostyn
The acquisition of Tir Mostyn wind
farm in Wales completed in
December 2004 in a transaction
valued at £21.6 million, including
construction costs. Situated in a
prime location, the 21.25mw wind
farm will produce enough power
from 25 wind turbines to light
15,500 homes, saving

approximately 47,000 tonnes a
year in greenhouse gas emissions
measured against equivalent fossil
fuel generation. The facility will
become operational in the autumn
of 2005 and power will be sold
under a 12-year fixed-price
index-linked contract with the
Non-Fossil Fuel Purchasing
Agency.

Deal type Residual cost Valuation Valuation basis Portfolio value
£’000 £’000 %

Hg Renewable UK Holdings 
I Ltd t/a Tir Mostyn* New build 1,015 1,015 Cost 1.0
*A further £0.4 million has been committed.

Renewable Energy
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Investment Listing

Year of
Company Activity Cost Valuation investment Value

£'000 £'000 %
ACT Venture Capital Ltd Irish venture fund – 103 1994 0.1
Acuid Ltd High-speed communication technology 4,448 539 2001 0.5
Axiom Holdings Ltd Communications software 1,721 983 2001 1.0
Azinger Ltd Grocery importer and distributor 211 – 1993 –
Bertram Group Holdings Ltd+ Wholesale supplier of books 2,848 548 1999 0.5
Biovector Therapeutics SA Biopharmaceuticals 998 – 1997 –
Blue Minerva Ltd t/a Iris Software+ Accounting and business software 6,626 6,626 2004 6.5
Bottomline Technologies, Inc** B2B electronic banking software 952 1,582 1999 1.5
Burns e-Commerce Solutions+ B2B electronic payments software 3,244 222 2001 0.2
Castlebeck Group Ltd+ Care homes 3,731 5,375 2002 5.2
Clarion Events Ltd+ Exhibition and events organiser 4,257 4,257 2004 4.1
Classic Copyright (Holdings) Ltd 
t/a Boosey & Hawkes+ Classical music publisher 6,033 6,033 2003 5.8
ClinPhone Holdings Ltd Pharmaceutical and clinical research services 2,361 3,648 1996 3.5
Doc M Sarl t/a DocMorris Direct-mail pharmacy 1,956 1,951 2004 1.9
Eagle Rock Entertainment Ltd+ Entertainment intellectual property rights 3,856 4,236 2001 4.1
Euroknights III LP European venture fund 1,457 525 1996 0.5
Euroknights International Ltd European venture fund 83 – 1990 –
FTE Automotive GmbH+ Clutch and brake components – 7,132 2002 6.9
Global People Network Ltd On-line staffing software 510 – 1999 –
Hg Renewable UK Holdings I Ltd 
t/a Tir Mostyn+ Wind farm 1,015 1,015 2004 1.0
Hirschmann Electronics 
Holdings SA+ Electronics equipment 2,669 2,792 2004 2.7
Hoseasons Group Ltd+ Self-catering holidays 2,147 2,850 2003 2.8
Luxfer Holdings plc Aluminium products 46 – 1996 –
Match Holdings Ltd Staffing services to NHS trust hospitals 3,854 2,284 1999 2.2
MedNova Ltd Medical devices 82 221 1998 0.2
Newchurch Ltd+ IT services for the healthcare industry 2,366 1,220 2000 1.2
Orbis plc* Void property management 3,378 20 1997 –
Orbiscom Ltd Secure card-based payments technology 3,063 681 2001 0.7
PARC Group Ltd Manpower leasing 48 360 1995 0.4
PBR Holding SA+ Clinical trials 4,973 1,308 2002 1.3
Profiad Ltd+ Patient recruitment for clinical trials 1,653 – 1999 –
Raymarine plc* Recreational marine electronics 187 5,413 2001 5.2
Rolfe & Nolan Holdings plc+ Back-office banking software 238 2,408 2003 2.3
SGI (Holdings) Ltd+ Outsourced services for the property sector 2,469 – 1999 –
The Sanctuary Spa Group Ltd+ Day spa 119 1,380 1995 1.3
South Wharf plc formerly 
Ardagh plc~ Property developer 47 229 1992 0.2
Trados, Inc Software for the translation industry 2,492 858 2000 0.8
Travelsphere Holdings Ltd Overseas coach tour holiday operator 3,899 4,018 2000 3.9
Tunstall Holdings Ltd+ Security alarms for the elderly and infirm 6,998 10,950 1999 10.6
Verigen AG Tissue repair technology 3,463 1,330 2000 1.3
W.E.T. Automotive Systems AG+ Car seat-heating systems 7,623 7,816 2003 7.6
Wand Equity Portfolio II, LP US LBO fund 651 360 1998 0.3
Weston Presidio Capital II, LP US venture fund – 85 1995 0.1
Weston Presidio Capital III, LP US venture fund 2,288 1,374 1998 1.3
Worldmark International Ltd Product identification systems 2,389 154 2000 0.2
Xtx Ltd t/a Xyratex** Data storage and network technology 6,995 10,386 2003 10.1

110,444 103,272 100.0

* Listed on the London Stock Exchange.
~ Listed on the London and Dublin Stock Exchanges.
** Traded on NASDAQ.
+ HgCapital, through its management of the Company and other funds, controls more than 50% of the voting equity shares.
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Board of Directors

David Bucks*† (chairman)
Aged 70, was appointed as a director and became chairman
of the Company in 1992. He is a chartered accountant with
over 30 years’ experience of working in the City.

Timothy Amies*
Aged 66, was appointed to the Board in 1991. He is a
chartered accountant with over 30 years’ experience of
working in the City. He was a partner of Laurie Milbank &
Co, stockbrokers, for 16 years prior to its acquisition by
Chase Manhattan Bank, where he was a director of Chase
Investment Bank involved in mergers and acquisitions. 
He is chairman of the Audit and Valuation Committee of 
the Company.

Piers Brooke*†

Aged 64, was appointed to the Board in 2001. He worked for
38 years in both commercial and merchant banking, holding
a variety of general management positions in the UK,
Continental Europe, the Far East and North America; most
recently he was the Director of Financial Strategy at
National Westminster Bank. He is a non-executive director
of Focus Solutions Group plc and Lothbury Property Trust.

Peter Gale*†

Aged 49, was appointed to the Board in 1991 and is deputy
chairman of the Company. He has worked in many of the
divisions of National Westminster Bank, specialising in
investment management. In 1990 he became responsible
for the investment management of National Westminster
Bank Group Pension Funds, which subsequently became
RBS Pension Trustee Ltd. Upon the purchase of Gartmore
Investment Management plc in 1996, he became a principal
of the enlarged fund management company and in 2003
became managing director of Gartmore Private Equity.

Roger Mountford
Aged 56, was appointed to the Board in 2004. He spent
thirty years as a merchant banker in the City of London and
in the Far East, latterly as a managing director in the
Corporate Finance Department of SG Hambros. He now
serves on the boards of the Civil Aviation Authority, where
he is chairman of the CAA Pension Scheme, and Dover
Harbour Board. 

Andrew Murison
Aged 56, was appointed to the Board in 2004. He was Senior
Bursar of Peterhouse, Cambridge for nine years and
previously for twelve years a principal in private equity
partnerships in the USA. Prior to that he was a fund
manager, financial journalist and investment banker in the
City of London. He now serves on the board of Aberdeen
Growth Opportunities Venture Capital Trust plc and is
chairman of the JPMorgan Fleming Continental European
Investment Trust plc.

* Member of the Audit and Valuation, and Directors’
Remuneration Committees.

† Member of the Management Engagement Committee.
All directors are members of the Nomination Committee.
All directors are non-executive and independent.
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Directors’ Report

The directors present the annual report and financial
statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2004.

Principal activity and business review
The principal activity of the Company is to operate as an
investment trust providing access to a diversified portfolio of
private equity investments.

A review of the business for the year is given in the
Chairman’s Statement on page 3 and in the Investment
Manager’s Review, which begins on page 6.

Status of the Company
The Inland Revenue has accepted the Company as an
investment trust for the purposes of section 842 of the
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (“ICTA”) for the year
ended 31 December 2003. In the opinion of the directors,
the Company has conducted its affairs so as to enable it to
continue to maintain acceptance as an investment trust
since that date. It is the Company’s intention to continue to
seek authorisation under section 842 of ICTA.

The Company is not a close company within the meaning of
the provisions of ICTA.

The Company is an investment company within the meaning
of section 266 of the Companies Act 1985.

The Company’s shares are eligible investments within the
stocks and shares component of an Individual Savings
Account.

Going concern
The Company is in a position to meet all of its liabilities
from its assets and consequently the accounts of the
Company have been produced on a going concern basis.

Results and dividend
The revenue for the Company is set out in the Statement of
Total Return on page 28. Revenue for the year, after
taxation, was £2,649,000 (2003: £3,969,000).

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
8.0p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December
2004 (2003: 12.0p). Subject to approval of this dividend at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), it will be
paid on 29 April 2005 to shareholders on the register of
members at the close of business on 18 March 2005.

Derivative transactions
The Company has not entered into any derivative
transactions during the year.

Directors
The directors of the Company are listed on page 19. 
Mr D Bucks will be retiring from the Board at the close of
the AGM and will be succeeded as chairman by
Mr R P Mountford.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr P L
Brooke will retire by rotation at the Company’s AGM and,
being eligible, offers himself for re-election. He has been a
director of the Company for four years. He previously had a
broadly-based exposure to financial management and
control which he combines with extensive commercial
experience. His re-election is recommended to
shareholders.

Mr R P Mountford and Mr A H Murison were appointed as
directors on 20 April 2004. In accordance with the Articles of
Association, having been appointed since the last AGM, they
will retire at the Company’s forthcoming AGM and offer
themselves for election. Both directors were chosen for
their appropriate knowledge and experience, following a
detailed recruitment search to fill the vacancies created by
the retirement of Messrs Glover and Crook. Their election is
recommended to shareholders.

Messrs Gale and Amies were both appointed on 1 May 1991.
Whilst the Combined Code on Corporate Governance
recommends that any non-executive director serving for
longer than nine years be subject to annual re-election,
under the retirement by rotation provisions of the
Company’s Articles of Association, Mr P Gale stood for
election at last year’s AGM and Mr T J Amies will stand at
the next AGM. The Board has decided that it is unnecessary
therefore for them to stand for re-election this year.

Mr P L Brooke has been appointed to the Audit and
Valuation Committee to replace the vacancy created by the
retirement of Mr A D V Crook.

None of the directors has a service contract with the
Company.

Directors’ interests
The interests of those persons who were directors at the
end of the year in the ordinary shares of the Company were
as follows (all holdings are beneficial unless stated
otherwise):

31 December 1 January
2004 2004

T J Amies 30,000 30,000
P L Brooke – –
D Bucks 6,400 6,400
P Gale 4,000 4,000
R P Mountford 3,000 –
A H Murison – –

No notification of any change in the above interests has
been received from 31 December 2004 to the date of this
report.
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Directors’ Report continued

Substantial interests
The Company is aware that the following shareholders had
an interest in 3% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company on 4 March 2005:

% of issued
Ordinary share

shares capital

Hg Investment 
Managers Ltd* 2,624,819 10.42

Gartmore Investment
Managers plc 2,513,861 9.98

The Scottish Investment
Trust PLC 1,600,000 6.35

Merrill Lynch Investment
Managers Limited** 1,513,380 6.01

Wolverhampton Borough
Council Superannuation Fund 1,431,788 5.68

HBOS plc and its subsidiaries 954,914 3.79
East Riding Pension Fund 850,000 3.37
Oxfordshire County Council 775,000 3.08

* On behalf of discretionary clients and HgCapital staff,
including 1,019,619 ordinary shares (4.0%) beneficially
owned by BBC Pension Trust Limited Fund RW, managed
under a delegation agreement from MLIM Ltd.

** On behalf of discretionary and non discretionary clients
and staff.

We are not aware that any other shareholder had an
interest of 3% or more in the Company’s ordinary share
capital as at 4 March 2005.

Investment management and administration
Under the management arrangements implemented in May
2003, the Company’s assets, excluding cash are held in 
HGT Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) which is
managed by Hg Pooled Management Ltd (“HgCapital”). The
Company’s investment management arrangements had
previously rested with Merrill Lynch Investment Managers
Limited (“MLIM”) where MLIM’s duties as investment
manager were delegated to HgCapital. MLIM continued to
manage the Company’s cash portfolio and it is intended to
transfer this to an authorised entity within HgCapital shortly.

The details below relate to the current investment
management arrangements with HgCapital.

A management fee of 1.5% per annum of NAV, excluding
investments in other collective investment funds, is payable.

In addition, a profit share arrangement has been
introduced, in which the executives of HgCapital participate.
This arrangement allows the executives up to 20% of the
excess annual growth in average NAV over an 8% “hurdle”
rate of growth, based on a three-year rolling average NAV,
calculated half-yearly and aggregated with any dividends
declared by the Company in respect of that financial year.

For a transitional period of three years ending 30 April 2006,
the management fee will be the greater of:

a) 1.5% per annum of the net assets of the Company,
excluding investments in other collective investment
funds, and any profit share payable; or

b) the management fee previously paid to MLIM, being an
amount equal to the aggregate of 0.75% per annum on
the Company’s cash and quoted portfolio and 2.25% per
annum on the value of the unquoted portfolio (excluding
investments in other collective investment funds).

The management agreement may be terminated on giving
two years’ notice and such notice shall be deemed to be
given at the end of the half-year in which notice is served.
No penalty on termination is payable by the Company in the
event that two years’ notice is given to HgCapital, during
which period HgCapital would receive a management fee
calculated on the basis of the value of assets remaining
under its management and not on the entire net assets of
the Company.

The Company paid no further fees in respect of
management of the cash portfolio by MLIM; this was, and
since the transfer of cash management responsibilities will
be, covered by HgCapital out of the fees it receives.

The Board has agreed that the Company will not invest
more than 15% of its gross assets in other listed investment
companies.

HgCapital has been appointed secretary and administrator
of the Company for a fee equal to 0.1% of NAV. The Bank of
New York Europe Limited (“BNYE”) is the custodian of the
Company’s assets and its fees and expenses are met by
HgCapital.

Appointment of the Investment Manager
The Board keeps the resources and performance of the
Investment Manager under review, and a comparative
review of the terms is undertaken annually.

The Board believes that the continuing appointment of
HgCapital, on the terms disclosed above, is in the best
interests of all shareholders. The high quality of recent
investments and continued good performance of the
Company’s assets support this view.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
The Directors’ Remuneration Report is set out on page 23.
An ordinary resolution to approve this report will be put to
members at the forthcoming AGM. No person’s entitlement
to remuneration is conditional upon the resolution being
passed.

Voting policy
The exercise of voting rights attached to the Company’s
portfolio has been delegated to HgCapital, which does not
operate a fixed policy when voting but reviews each case
separately.
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Directors’ Report continued

Donations
The Company made no political or charitable donations
during the period.

Payment of suppliers
It is the general policy of the Company to pay for the supply
of goods and services within 30 days of the date of any
invoice. The Company has no trade creditors.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM of the Company will be held at the offices of
HgCapital, Third Floor, Minerva House, 3-5 Montague Close,
London SE1 9BB on Tuesday 19 April 2005 at 12 noon.
Notice of the AGM is given on page 43.

Authority to buy back shares
The directors’ authority to buy back shares was renewed at
last year’s AGM and will expire on 19 October 2005.

Although no shares were bought back during the year, the
directors are proposing to renew the authority at the
forthcoming AGM, and are seeking authority to purchase up
to 3,775,000 ordinary shares (being 14.99% of the issued
share capital). This authority, unless renewed, will expire on
18 October 2006.

Purchases of ordinary shares will only be made through the
market for cash at prices below the prevailing NAV per
ordinary share. Under the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authority, the maximum price that can be paid is
5% above the average of the market values of the ordinary
shares for the five business days before the purchase is
made. The minimum price that may be paid will be 25p per
share (being the nominal value of a share). Any shares
purchased under this authority will be cancelled. In making
purchases, the Company will deal only with member firms
of the London Stock Exchange.

Authority of directors to allot shares
Resolutions 10 and 11 to be proposed at the AGM are
similar to the authorities given to the directors at last year’s
AGM. By law, directors are not permitted to allot new
shares (or to grant rights over shares) unless authorised to
do so by shareholders. Resolution 10 gives the directors, for
the period until the conclusion of the AGM in 2006, the
necessary authority to allot securities up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £314,800, which is equivalent to
1,259,200 ordinary shares of 25p each and approximately
5% of the issued ordinary share capital.

Resolution 11 empowers the directors until the conclusion
of the AGM in 2006, or if earlier, the expiry of 15 months
from the date on which the resolution is passed, to allot
securities for cash, otherwise than to existing shareholders
on a pro rata basis, up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£314,800, which is equivalent to 1,259,200 ordinary shares
and approximately 5% of the issued share capital. In no
circumstances would the directors use this authority to
dilute the interests of existing shareholders by issuing
shares at a price which is less than the NAV attributable to
the shares at the time of issue.

Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP has indicated its willingness to continue
in office as independent auditor and resolutions proposing
its re-appointment and authorising the directors to
determine its remuneration will be submitted at the AGM.

By order of the Board
Hg Pooled Management Ltd
Secretary
8 March 2005
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

The Company presents the directors’ remuneration report
for the year ended 31 December 2004.

Directors’ Remuneration Committee
The Directors’ Remuneration Committee consists of
David Bucks (chairman), Timothy Amies, Piers Brooke and
Peter Gale and meets when necessary to consider any
change in the Company’s directors’ remuneration policy.
The Company has no employees other than its directors,
who are all non-executive and independent of the
management company. The secretary (whose duties are set
out elsewhere in this report, and who is not appointed by
the Directors’ Remuneration Committee) provides a
comparison of the directors’ remuneration with other
investment trusts of similar size and/or mandate. This
comparison, together with consideration of any alteration in
non-executive directors’ responsibilities, is used to review
whether any change in remuneration is necessary.

No element of the directors’ remuneration is performance
related. The Company has not awarded any share options or
long-term performance incentives to any of the directors.

None of the directors has a service contract with the
Company. The terms of their appointments are detailed in a
letter sent to them when they join the Board. These letters
are available for inspection at the registered office of the
Company.

Directors’ remuneration
Remuneration

2004 2003
Director £ £

Timothy Amies 16,000 13,000
Piers Brooke 16,000 13,000
David Bucks (chairman) 23,750 20,000
Anthony Crook (retired 30/9/04) 11,750 13,000
Peter Gale* 16,000 13,000
Michael Glover (retired 30/4/04) 4,647 13,000
Roger Mountford (appointed 20/4/04) 11,816 –
Andrew Murison (appointed 20/4/04) 11,816 –

* Paid to a third party.

The information in this table and in the paragraphs below has been
audited.

With effect from 1 April 2004 the remuneration of the
chairman was increased from £20,000 to £25,000 per
annum, and for the other board members from £13,000 to
£17,000 per annum. Prior to this increase, the remuneration
of Mr Brooke and Mr Glover was last reviewed and
increased with effect from 1 January 2002. For the
chairman and remainder of the board, the last increases
were effective on 1 April 2000.

None of the directors receives any non-cash benefits or
pension entitlements.

Compensation for loss of office
No past director has been compensated for loss of office.

Retirement of directors
All of the Company’s directors are subject to retirement by
rotation as per the Company’s Articles of Association.

By order of the Board
Hg Pooled Management Ltd
Secretary
8 March 2005
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Corporate Governance and Directors’ Responsibilities

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate
governance. The Board has put in place a framework for
corporate governance which it believes is suitable for an
investment trust and which enables the Company to comply
with the revised Combined Code on Corporate Governance
(“the Combined Code”) prepared by the Committee on
Corporate Governance, published in July 2003 and the AITC
Code of Corporate Governance issued at the same time. The
Board has made the appropriate disclosures in the annual
report to ensure the Company meets its continuing
obligations under the Financial Services Authority,
Investment Entities (Listing Rules and Conduct of Business)
Instrument 2003.

The Board considers that the Company has complied with
the provisions contained within Section 1 of the Combined
Code throughout this accounting period, and this statement
describes how the relevant principles of governance are
applied to the Company.

The Board
The Board consists of six non-executive directors, all of
whom the Company deems to be independent, even though
three of them have served as directors for over ten years.
Their biographies, on page 19, highlight their wide range of
business experience. The Board does not feel that it would
be appropriate to adopt a policy whereby directors serve for
a limited period as the historical knowledge of the portfolio
is useful. The structure of the Board is such that it is
considered unnecessary to identify a senior non-executive
director other than the deputy chairman.

The Board is supplied in a timely manner with information
in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to
discharge its duties. Strategic issues and all operational
matters of a material nature are determined by the Board.

The directors retire by rotation at every third Annual
General Meeting (“AGM”) and any directors appointed to the
Board since the previous AGM also retire and stand for
election. Directors who reach the age of 70 will retire at the
next AGM of the Company and at each following AGM, but
will be eligible for reappointment subject to the approval of
the rest of the Board.

The Chairman will be retiring following the AGM and will
not be standing for re-election. The director standing for 
re-election is Mr Brooke. The Board has considered his
position as part of the evaluation process, and believes it
would be appropriate for him to be proposed for re-election
given his material level of contribution.

Messrs Mountford and Murison are standing for election to
the Board, having been appointed in April 2004 to fill the
vacancies caused by the retirements of Mr Crook and
Mr Glover. An external search consultancy was used to
identify suitable candidates. The directors support a
planned and progressive refreshing of the Board as
evidenced by the recent changes.

Messrs Gale and Amies were both appointed on 1 May 1991.
Whilst the Combined Code recommends that any
non-executive director serving for longer than nine years be

subject to annual re-election, under the retirement by
rotation provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr Gale was re-elected at last year’s AGM and Mr Amies
will stand at the next AGM. The Board has decided that it is
unnecessary therefore for them to stand for re-election
this year.

The Board meets at least five times a year and there is
regular contact with HgCapital between these meetings.
The directors also have access to the advice and services of
the secretary, who is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed and that applicable
rules and regulations are complied with. Where necessary,
in the furtherance of their duties, the directors may seek
independent professional advice at the expense of the
Company.

The Board has responsibility for ensuring that the Company
keeps proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable it to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. The Board
is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities. Finally, it is
the Board’s responsibility to present a balanced and
understandable assessment which extends to the interim
and other price-sensitive public reports.

The Company has maintained appropriate Directors’
Liability Insurance cover throughout the year, in the event of
any potential legal action against its directors.

The Board formally reviews its performance on a regular
basis, together with that of the Audit and Valuation
Committee.

An appraisal system has been agreed by the Board for
evaluation of the Board, its committees and the individual
directors, including the chairman.

Delegation of responsibilities
The Board has delegated the following areas of
responsibility:

Management and administration
The management of the investment portfolio has been
delegated to Hg Pooled Management Ltd (HgCapital).
HgCapital has also been appointed as secretary and
administrator to the Company, and certain of its corporate
secretarial responsibilities have been delegated to Merrill
Lynch Investment Managers Group Services (“MLIMGS”).
Custody and settlement services are undertaken by The
Bank of New York Europe Limited (“BNYE”), a subsidiary of
The Bank of New York.

The Board has delegated the exercise of voting rights
attaching to the securities held in the portfolio to HgCapital.
HgCapital does not operate a fixed policy when voting but
reviews each case separately.

All other matters are reserved for the approval of the
Board.
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Corporate Governance and Directors’ Responsibilities
continued

Board committees
As all the directors of the Company are non-executive, the
Board as a whole fulfils the function of the Nomination
Committee, which meets when necessary to select and
propose suitable candidates for appointment. When looking
for a new director, the Board assesses the skills of the
Board as a whole, to identify any areas that need
strengthening. External search consultants are also used.

Separate Audit and Valuation, and Management
Engagement Committees have been established. These
committees consist of at least three directors, the majority
of whom have no previous connection with the investment
management of the Company other than in their capacity as
a director of the Company.

The Audit and Valuation Committee, which has written
terms of reference detailing its scope and duties and which
meets at least four times a year, examines the effectiveness
of the control systems. The chairman of the Company is a
member of this committee to enable him to be kept fully
informed of any issues that may arise. The committee
reviews the interim and annual reports and also receives
information from the relevant corporate audit and
compliance departments. The committee reviews the scope,
results, cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity of
the external auditor. Semi-annually, at each balance sheet
date, the committee reviews in detail the valuation of the
unquoted investments within the portfolio. The terms of
reference of this committee are available on request and
will also be available at each AGM.

The majority of the non-audit fees of £13,500 paid to Ernst
& Young LLP relate to the provision of taxation services. The
Board considers the services provided are non-material and
cost effective. Ernst & Young LLP provides details of any
other relationship with the Investment Manager and
confirms to the Board each year that in its opinion it is
independent of the Manager. Based on the review of the
non-audit services provided by the auditor, the Board has
concluded that Ernst & Young LLP is independent of the
Investment Manager.

The external auditor is invited to attend the Audit and
Valuation Committee meeting at which the annual accounts
are considered and has the opportunity to meet with the
committee without representatives of the Investment
Manager being present.

The Management Engagement Committee, which also has
written terms of reference detailing its scope and duties,
regularly reviews the terms of the investment management
and administration contracts. New contracts were entered
into with HgCapital in 2003.

The Directors’ Remuneration Committee, which is made up
of four directors who are not employed by or are not former
employees of HgCapital or any of its associates or
subsidiaries, meets when necessary to consider any change
in the directors’ remuneration policy. The remuneration of
the chairman and directors is reviewed against the fees paid
to directors of other specialist investment trusts and

investment trusts of a comparable size, as well as taking
account of any data published by the AITC.

Membership of the Board Committees

Audit and Valuation Committee
Timothy Amies (chairman)
Piers Brooke
David Bucks
Peter Gale

Directors’ Remuneration Committee
David Bucks (chairman)
Timothy Amies
Piers Brooke
Peter Gale

Management Engagement Committee
David Bucks (chairman)
Piers Brooke
Peter Gale

Nomination Committee
David Bucks (chairman)
Timothy Amies
Piers Brooke
Peter Gale
Roger Mountford
Andrew Murison

Attendance record
Number of meetings attended

Board (6) A&VC (4)

David Bucks 6 4
Peter Gale 5 4
Tim Amies 4 3
Piers Brooke 6 n/a
Tony Crook* 4 3
Michael Glover* 3 n/a
Roger Mountford* 4 n/a
Andrew Murison* 4 n/a

* Due to retirement and appointment during the year, these
directors were not eligible for all the meetings. They did however
attend all the meetings for which they were eligible.

Internal controls
The Board is responsible for the internal controls of the
Company and for reviewing their effectiveness, for ensuring
that financial information published or used within the
business is reliable, and for regularly monitoring
compliance with regulations governing the operation of
investment trusts. The Board continually reviews the
effectiveness of the internal control system. The processes
indicated below have been put in place to ensure that the
Company fully complied with the Combined Code for the
year ended 31 December 2004 and up to the date of this
report, and will continue to do so for the year ending
31 December 2005.

As part of the Board’s responsibility for the internal control
system, an ongoing process has been established in
conjunction with HgCapital and MLIMGS, for identifying,
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evaluating and managing the Company’s significant risks.
Controls of the risks identified, covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, are
embedded in the operations of HgCapital, MLIMGS, BNYE
and other outsourced service providers. There is a
monitoring and reporting process to review controls put in
place to track risks identified, carried out by the compliance
function within HgCapital and the corporate auditors of the
other two organisations. HgCapital and MLIMGS report to
the Company their review of internal controls (which for
HgCapital include checks on the custodian) formally on an
annual and a semi-annual basis and orally at each Board
and Audit and Valuation Committee meeting.

The Company does not have its own internal audit function,
as all the administration is delegated to the Investment
Manager. This matter is kept under review.

MLIMGS, in conjunction with HgCapital, prepares cash flow
forecasts and management accounts, which allow the Board
to assess the Company’s activities and to review its
performance.

The Board and HgCapital have agreed clearly-defined
investment criteria, specified levels of authority and
exposure limits. Reports on these issues, including
performance statistics and investment valuations, are
submitted to the Board at each meeting. HgCapital’s
evaluation procedure and financial analysis of the
companies within the portfolio includes detailed research
and appraisal, and also takes into account environmental
policies and other business issues. The Board recognises
that these control systems can only be designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss. It relies
on the operating controls established by HgCapital, MLIMGS
and BNYE.

Financial statements
The Board is required to ensure that the financial
statements give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Company as at the end of each financial year and of the
profit of the Company for that period.

The Board considers that in preparing the financial
statements on pages 28 to 39, the Company has used
appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied (except
where disclosed) and supported by reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates and that all accounting
standards that it considers to be applicable have been
followed.

Relations with shareholders
All shareholders have the opportunity to attend and vote at
the AGM. The notice of the AGM sets out the business of the
meeting and any item not of an entirely routine nature is
explained in the Directors’ Report on pages 20 to 22.
Separate resolutions are proposed for substantive issues.

Both the Board and representatives of HgCapital are
available to answer shareholders’ questions at the AGM.
Proxy voting figures are announced to shareholders at the
AGM.

HgCapital holds regular discussions with major
shareholders, the feedback from which is greatly valued by
the Board. In addition, the chairman and directors are
available to enter into dialogue and correspondence with
shareholders regarding the progress and performance of
the Company. The section of this report entitled
“Shareholder Information”, on pages 40 and 41, provides an
overview of useful information available to shareholders.

Corporate Governance and Directors’ Responsibilities
continued
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Report of the Independent Auditor 
to the Members of HgCapital Trust plc

We have audited the Company’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2004, which comprise the
Statement of Total Return (incorporating the Revenue
Account), Balance Sheet, Cash Flow Statement and the
related notes 1 to 20. These financial statements have been
prepared on the basis of the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having
been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act
1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an independent auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and the
independent auditor
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report, including the Directors’ Remuneration Report and
the financial statements in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom law and accounting standards. These
responsibilities are set out in the statement on Corporate
Governance and Directors’ Responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, United Kingdom Auditing Standards and 
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority. 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report
is not consistent with the financial statements, 
if the Company has not kept proper accounting records, 
if we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit, or if the information specified by
law or the Listing Rules regarding directors’ remuneration
and transactions with the Company is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions
of the 2003 FRC Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it
does not. We are not required to consider whether the
Board’s statement on internal controls covers all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of either
the Company’s corporate governance procedures or its risk
and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited
financial statements. This other information comprises the
Financial Highlights, Performance Record, Chairman’s
Statement, Investment Manager’s Review, Portfolio
Analysis, Investment Listing, Board of Directors, Directors’
Report, the unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report, Corporate Governance and Directors’
Responsibilities, Shareholder Information, Analysis of
Shareholders, Glossary, Notice of Annual General Meeting
and Management and Administration. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend
to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom
Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the directors
in the preparation of the financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations that we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

i) the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2004 and
of the return of the Company for the year then ended; and

ii) the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London
8 March 2005
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Revenue Capital Total
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gains on investments and 
government securities 11 – – 23,925 13,202 23,925 13,202

Income 2 4,905 7,106 – – 4,905 7,106
Investment management fee 3 (604) (475) (1,812) (1,426) (2,416) (1,901)
Other expenses 4 (484) (925) – – (484) (925)

Net return before finance 
costs and taxation 3,817 5,706 22,113 11,776 25,930 17,482

Interest payable and 
similar charges 6 (110) (11) (329) (32) (439) (43)

Return on ordinary activities 
before taxation 3,707 5,695 21,784 11,744 25,491 17,439

Taxation on ordinary activities 7 (1,058) (1,726) 642 437 (416) (1,289)

Return on ordinary activities 
after taxation 2,649 3,969 22,426 12,181 25,075 16,150

Dividend in respect of equity shares 8 (2,015) (3,022) – – (2,015) (3,022)

Transfer to reserves 634 947 22,426 12,181 23,060 13,128

Return per ordinary share 9 10.52p 15.76p 89.04p 48.36p 99.56p 64.12p

Dividend per ordinary share 8 8.00p 12.00p – – 8.00p 12.00p

The revenue column of this statement is the profit and loss account of the Company. 
The movements in reserves are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. 
All revenue and capital items in the above statement derive from continuing operations. 
No operations were acquired or discontinued during the year.

Statement of Total Return (incorporating the revenue account)
for the year ended 31 December 2004

The notes on pages 31 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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2004 2003

Note £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Investments

Listed 17,630 6,120
Unlisted 85,642 89,231

10 103,272 95,351
Current assets
Debtors 12 6,808 9,393
Government securities 13 11,884 17
Cash 14(a) 1,180 546

19,872 9,956
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 15 (3,119) (8,342)

Net current assets 16,753 1,614

Net assets 120,025 96,965

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 17 6,296 6,296
Share premium account 18 14,123 14,123
Capital redemption reserve 18 1,248 1,248
Capital reserve – realised 18 100,834 85,734
Capital reserve – unrealised 18 (7,207) (14,533)
Revenue reserve 18 4,731 4,097

Total equity shareholders’ funds 19 120,025 96,965

Net asset value per ordinary share 476.5p 385.0p

The financial statements on pages 28 to 39 were approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2005 and were signed on its
behalf by:

David Bucks, Chairman
Tim Amies, Director

Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2004

The notes on pages 31 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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2004 2003
Note £'000 £'000

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 4(b) 4,257 (1,269)

Returns on investments and servicing of finance (110) (11)

Taxation (paid)/received (1,604) 355

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of fixed asset investments (21,937) (29,637)
Proceeds from the sale of fixed asset investments 38,153 15,006

Net cash inflow/(outflow) for capital expenditure and financial investment 16,216 (14,631)

Equity dividends paid (3,022) (2,015)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before management of liquid resources 15,737 (17,571)

Management of liquid resources
Purchase of government securities (11,620) (14,784)
Sale and redemption of government securities 17 28,370

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from management of liquid resources (11,603) 13,586

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from repayment of loans 14 (3,500) 3,500

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 14 634 (485)

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2004

The notes on pages 31 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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1. Accounting policies
Principal activity
The principal activity of the company is that of an investment company within the meaning of section 266 of the Companies
Act 1985.

Basis of preparation
The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of investments,
and are in accordance with section 230 of, and schedule 4 to, the Companies Act 1985, and with applicable accounting
standards and the Statement of Recommended Practice “Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies” issued
January 2003.

Associated undertakings
Certain venture capital investments deemed to be associated undertakings are carried at cost or valuation in accordance
with standard accounting policy and Financial Reporting Standard (“FRS”) 9.

Investment income and interest receivable
Income from equity investment, including taxes deducted at source, is included in revenue by reference to the date on which
the investment is quoted ex-dividend. Where it is elected to receive dividends in the form of additional shares rather than
cash dividend, the equivalent of the cash dividend is recognised as income in the revenue account and any excess in value of
the shares received over the amount of the cash dividend is recognised in capital reserve – realised. Interest income is
accounted for on an accruals basis. Dividends receivable on equity shares where there is no ex-dividend date and on non-
equity shares are brought into account when the right to receive payment is established.

Management fee and finance costs
The annual investment management fee and finance costs are charged 75% to capital reserve – realised and 25% to the
revenue account. This is in line with the expected split of long-term returns, in the form of capital gains and income
respectively, from the investment portfolio.

Expenses
All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. All administrative expenses, excluding the management fee, are
charged wholly to the revenue account. 
Expenses which are incidental to the purchase or sale of an investment are included within the cost or deducted from the
proceeds of the investment.

Foreign currency
All transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the dates of such
transactions. Foreign currency assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are translated into sterling at the exchange
rates ruling at that date. Exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign currency assets and liabilities are taken
to capital reserve – realised.

Taxation
Deferred taxation is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance
sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more, or right to pay less, tax in the future have
occurred at the balance sheet date. This is subject to deferred assets only being recognised if it is considered more likely
than not that there will be suitable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be
deducted. Timing differences are differences between the Company’s taxable profits and its results, as stated in the
financial statements, which are capable of reversal in one or more suitable periods.

Investments
The general principle applied in valuing investments is that they should be reported at “fair value”.
Listed:
Investments listed (or traded) on recognised stock exchanges are valued at closing middle market prices (bid prices will be
used if materially different from middle market prices) but reduced by a marketability discount where:
(i) there is a risk that the holding may not be immediately saleable; or
(ii) there is a formal restriction on trading in relevant securities.
In determining the size of the marketability discount, consideration is given to the size of the holding relative to normal
trading volumes in that security. Discounts range from 0% to 25%.
Unquoted:
Unquoted investments are valued using the following criteria:
(i) initially, investments are valued at cost, including fees and transaction costs;
(ii) after the receipt of the first audited financial statements following initial investment, companies are valued on the level

of maintainable earnings and an appropriate earnings multiple. A marketability discount is applied to the value
attributable to shareholders, ranging from 20% and 30%.

(iii) where more appropriate, investments are valued with reference to their net assets rather than earnings; and
(iv) appropriate provisions are made against all individual valuations where necessary to reflect unsatisfactory financial

performance leading to diminution in value.
Both realised and unrealised gains and losses arising on investments are taken to capital reserves.
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Capital reserves
Capital reserve – realised
The following are accounted for in this reserve:
(i) gains and losses on the realisation of investments;
(ii) losses on investments within the portfolio where there is little prospect of realisation or recovering any value;
(iii) realised exchange differences of a capital nature; and
(iv) expenses, together with the related taxation effect, charged to this reserve in accordance with the above policies.

Capital reserve – unrealised
The following are accounted for in this reserve:
(i) increases and decreases in the valuation of investments held at the year end; and
(ii) unrealised exchange differences of a capital nature.

Organisational structure
In May 2003, the Company entered into a partnership agreement with HGT General Partner Limited and MUST 4 Carry LP. A
limited partnership, HGT LP, was constituted to carry on the business of an investor with the Company being a limited
partner in this entity.
Under the partnership agreement, the Company made a capital commitment of its non-cash investment portfolio to HGT LP
with the result that all fixed asset investments are now held through HGT LP. Note 10 presents the underlying investments
held in HGT LP and related movements in the year. The income and capital accruals relating to the investments held in 
HGT LP are shown in notes 12 and 15.
The agreement stipulates that the associated income and capital profits, after payment of the Founder and the General
Partner share, are distributed to the Company and consequently these amounts (including the associated cash flows) are
shown in the appropriate lines within the Statement of Total Return, Cash Flow Statement and the related notes.

2. Income
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Income from investments
UK unquoted investment income 4,550 6,730
Overseas dividends 172 46

4,722 6,776
Other income
Gilt interest 34 276
Deposit interest 61 54
Underwriting commission 88 –

183 330

Total income 4,905 7,106

Total income comprises:
Dividends 172 46
Interest 4,645 7,060
Underwriting commission 88 –

4,905 7,106

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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3. Investment management fee
Revenue Capital Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investment management fee 514 404 1,542 1,214 2,056 1,618
Irrecoverable VAT thereon 90 71 270 212 360 283

604 475 1,812 1,426 2,416 1,901

Details of the investment management, custodian and administration contracts are disclosed in the Directors’ Report on
page 21. The investment management fee is levied quarterly in arrears. Investment management fees are charged 75% to
capital and 25% to revenue.

4. Other expenses

(a) Operating expenses
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Custodian and administration fees 126 109
Directors’ remuneration (note 5) 112 85
Auditors’ remuneration – audit services 23 17

– non-audit services 14 14
Reorganisation expenses – 499
Other administration costs 209 201

484 925

The Company’s total expense ratio, (“TER”) calculated as a percentage of average
net assets and including expenses, after relief for taxation, was: 1.85% 1.83%

(b) Reconciliation of net return before finance costs and taxation
to net cash flow from operating activities

2004 2003
£’000 £’000

Net return before finance costs and taxation 3,817 5,706
Investment management fee and finance costs capitalised (2,141) (1,458)
Decrease/(increase) in accrued income 4,088 (5,785)
Increase in creditors 133 98
Effective yield adjustment – 225
Tax on investment income included within gross income (1,640) (55)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 4,257 (1,269)

5. Directors’ emoluments

The aggregate emoluments of the directors, excluding VAT, where applicable, for the year to 31 December 2004 were
£111,779 (2003: £85,000). The emoluments of the chairman, who was also the highest paid director, were £23,750 (2003:
£20,000). Emoluments of £16,000 were paid to a third party for making available the services of one director (2003: £13,000).

The Company does not have a share option scheme or any incentive scheme. No pension contributions were made in
respect of the directors. There were no employees other than the directors.

6. Interest payable and similar charges
Revenue Capital Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Finance charges 110 11 329 32 439 43
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7. Taxation on ordinary activities

(a) Analysis of charge in year
Revenue Capital Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current tax:
UK corporation tax 1,112 1,858 (642) (437) 470 1,421
Prior year adjustment (54) (132) – – (54) (132)

Total current tax (note 7(b)) 1,058 1,726 (642) (437) 416 1,289

(b) Factors affecting current tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is different from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK for a large company (30%). The
differences are explained below:

2004 2003
£’000 £’000

Revenue return on ordinary activities before taxation 3,707 5,695

UK corporation tax at 30% thereon 1,112 1,708
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax – 150
Tax deductible expenses in capital (642) (437)
Tax relief to the capital account 642 437
Prior year adjustment (54) (132)

(54) 18

Current revenue tax charge for the year (note 7(a)) 1,058 1,726

In the opinion of the directors the Company has complied with the requirements of Section 842 ICTA 1988 and will therefore
be exempt from corporation tax on any capital gains made in the year.

8. Dividends in respect of equity shares
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Final proposed of 8.00p (2003: 12.00p) payable on 29 April 2005 2,015 3,022

9. Return and net asset value per ordinary share
2004 2003

Revenue and capital returns per share are shown below and have been 
calculated using the following:

Net revenue attributable to equity shareholders after taxation £2,649,000 £3,969,000
Net capital gains for the year £22,426,000 £12,181,000
Number of shares in issue 25,186,755 25,186,755

Revenue Capital Total
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Return per ordinary share 10.52p 15.76p 89.04p 48.36p 99.56p 64.12p

The net asset value per share of 476.5p (2003: 385.0p) was calculated by dividing equity shareholders’ funds of £120,025,000
(2003: £96,965,000) by the number of shares in issue at the year end of 25,186,755 (2003: 25,186,755).
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10. Investments
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Investments listed on the London and Dublin Stock Exchanges 5,662 5,106
Investments traded on NASDAQ 11,968 1,014
Unlisted investments 85,642 89,231

103,272 95,351

2004 2003
£’000 £’000

Equity shares 60,456 27,438
Convertible securities 74 6,152
Fixed income securities 42,742 61,761

103,272 95,351

Listed Unlisted Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

Opening valuation 6,120 89,231 95,351
Opening unrealised (appreciation)/depreciation (1,108) 15,641 14,533

Opening book cost 5,012 104,872 109,884
Movements in the year:
Transfer from unlisted to listed 13,992 (13,992) –
Additions at cost – 21,937 21,937
Disposals – proceeds (23,341) (14,635) (37,976)

– realised gains on sales 15,895 704 16,599

Closing book cost of investments 11,558 98,886 110,444
Closing unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) 6,072 (13,244) (7,172)

Closing valuation of investments 17,630 85,642 103,272

Top 10 investments
Accounting Net assets/ Income accrued % total

date Currency Turnover PBIT/ (LBT) (liabilities) 2004 share capital
Company £’000

Blue Minerva Ltd Apr-04 £’m 19.9 7.6 5.8 280 9.5
Castlebeck Group Ltd Nov-03 £’m 15.3 5.9 3.1 791 15.7
Clarion Events Ltd Dec-03 £’m 25.9 1.5 9.2 79 10.9
Classic Copyright (Holdings) Ltd Dec-02 £’m 28.0 4.5 n/a 1,011 12.1
Eagle Rock Entertainment Ltd Dec-03 £’m 30.2 1.5 (2.6) 853 14.8
FTE Automotive GmbH Dec-03 €’m 300.4 23.6 (5.6) – 16.7
Raymarine plc Dec-03 £’m 151.7 17.1 2.1 – 5.4
Tunstall Holdings Ltd Sep-04 £’m 69.1 13.8 (26.4) 165 9.5
W.E.T. Automotive Systems AG Jun-04 €’m 188.1 22.0 78.9 888 11.3
Xtx Ltd Nov-03 $’m 335.1 20.6 24.7 – 4.9
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10. Investments continued

The Company has equity holdings of 10% or more of the following classes of share in the companies listed below.

Company Country of incorporation Shareholding % of class*

Bertram Group Holdings Ltd England A Ordinary Shares 14.6
Bertram Group Holdings Ltd England C Ordinary Shares 13.4
Burns e-Commerce Solutions England Ordinary Shares 17.9
Castlebeck Group Ltd England B Ordinary Shares 18.4
Clarion Events Ltd England A Ordinary Shares 17.0
Classic Copyright (Holdings) Ltd t/a Boosey & Hawkes England A Ordinary Shares 15.8
ClinPhone Group Ltd England B Ordinary Shares 21.5
Eagle Rock Entertainment Ltd England A Ordinary Shares 18.1
FTE Automotive GmbH Germany A Ordinary Shares 16.6
FTE Automotive GmbH Germany Deux S.A. Shares 16.8
Hg Renewable UK Holdings I Ltd England Ordinary Shares 20.0
Hirschmann Electronics Holdings SA Luxembourg A Redeemable Shares 12.6
Hirschmann Electronics Holdings SA Luxembourg B Redeemable Shares 12.6
Hirschmann Electronics Holdings SA Luxembourg C Redeemable Shares 12.6
Hirschmann Electronics Holdings SA Luxembourg D Ordinary Shares 12.6
Hoseasons Group Ltd England Ordinary Shares 13.0
Newchurch Ltd England A Ordinary Shares 12.6
Orbiscom Ltd Ireland Redeemable Preference Shares 23.0
Orbiscom Ltd Ireland Ordinary Shares 12.8
PARC Group Ltd Ireland B Ordinary Shares 11.0
Profiad Ltd England B Ordinary Shares 13.9
PBR Holding SA Luxembourg 10% Equity loan notes 17.9
Rolfe & Nolan Holdings plc England Ordinary Shares 16.8
SGI (Holdings) Ltd England A Ordinary Shares 14.8
The Sanctuary Spa Group Ltd England A Ordinary Shares 13.7
Trados, Inc. U.S. Convertible Preference Shares 23.1
Trados, Inc. U.S. Preference Ordinary Shares 11.2
Tunstall Holdings Ltd England B Ordinary Shares 13.3
Verigen AG Germany Ordinary Shares 13.8
W.E.T. Automotive Systems AG Germany Ordinary Shares 14.8

* Investee companies may issue a number of different classes of share. The percentage of the total issued ordinary share capital of the
ten largest investments held by the Company is shown in the table on page 35.
Further information on those investments which, in the opinion of the directors, have a significant effect on the Company’s financial
statements, is contained in the Review of Principal Investments on page 10.

11. Gains on investments and government securities
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Realised gains on sales 16,599 8,676
Change in unrealised depreciation 7,326 4,526

23,925 13,202
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12. Debtors
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Taxation recoverable 1,680 –
Sales for future settlement – 177
Prepayments and accrued income 5,128 9,216

6,808 9,393

13. Government securities
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Opening valuation 17 13,843
Purchases at cost 11,919 14,784
Sales and redemptions (17) (28,370)
Unrealised capital losses (35) (108)
Realised capital losses – (132)

Closing valuation 11,884 17

14. Movement in net funds/(debt)

(a) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds/(debt)
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Change in net funds/(debt) 4,134 (3,985)
Net (debt)/funds at 1 January (2,954) 1,031

Net funds/(debt) at 31 December 1,180 (2,954)

(b) Analysis of changes in net funds/(debt)
At At

1 January Cash 31 December
2004 flows 2004

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cash 546 634 1,180
Bank loan (3,500) 3,500 –

(2,954) 4,134 1,180

15. Creditors – amounts falling due within one year
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Proposed dividend 2,015 3,022
Corporation tax payable – 1,148
Bank loan – 3,500
Purchase of gilts for future settlement 299 –
Sundry creditors 805 672

3,119 8,342
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16. Risk

The following disclosures relating to the risks faced by the Company are provided in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 13, “Derivatives and other financial instruments disclosures”.

Financial instruments and risk profile
The Company’s primary investment objective is to achieve long-term capital appreciation by investing in unquoted
companies, mostly in Western Europe. Additionally, the Company holds gilts, cash and short-term deposits and items such
as debtors and creditors arising directly from its operations. The numerical disclosures below exclude short-term debtors
and creditors. By their very nature, investment activities undertaken to achieve the Company’s objective involve certain
inherent risks, primarily valuation risk. These are considered further below.

Valuation risk
The Company’s exposure to valuation risk comprises mainly movements in the value of its underlying investments, the
majority of which are unquoted. A breakdown of the Company’s portfolio is given on page 18. In accordance with the
Company’s accounting policies, all underlying unquoted investments are valued by the directors with regard to the current
guidelines issued by the British Venture Capital Association. The Company does not hedge against movements in the value
of these investments. The Company has exposure to interest rate movements, through cash and gilt holdings.

In the opinion of the directors, the diversified nature of the Company’s portfolio significantly reduces the risks of investing in
unquoted companies.

Currency risk
The Company is exposed to currency risk as a result of investing in funds and companies in foreign currencies. The sterling
value of these assets can be significantly influenced by movements in foreign exchange rates. The Company does not
normally hedge against foreign currency movements affecting the value of its investments, but takes account of this risk
when making investment decisions.

Interest rate risk
The Company has exposure to interest rate movements on both interest receivable from funds awaiting investment and
interest payable on borrowings.

Financial assets of the Company
2004 2003

Fixed Floating Non interest Fixed Floating Non interest
rate rate bearing Total rate rate bearing Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sterling 43,500 1,180 33,835 78,515 39,569 546 23,184 63,299
Euro 10,586 – 13,633 24,219 18,197 – 6,166 24,363
US dollar 540 – 13,062 13,602 4,012 – 4,240 8,252

Total 54,626 1,180 60,530 116,336 61,778 546 33,590 95,914

The fixed rate assets comprise gilts and fixed rate lendings to investee companies. Fixed rate lendings have a weighted
average interest rate of 11.1% per annum (2003: 11.4%) and a weighted average life to maturity of 7.7 years 
(2003: 6.4 years). The floating rate assets consists of cash.

The non interest bearing assets represent the equity content of the investment portfolio.

The Company did not have any outstanding borrowings at the year end (2003: £3,500,000).

Currency exposure
The currency denomination of the Company’s financial assets is shown above. Short-term debtors and creditors, which are
excluded, are predominantly in sterling, the functional currency of the Company.
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17. Share capital

2004 2003
Nominal Nominal
No. ’000 £’000 No. ’000 £’000

Authorised:
40,000,000 ordinary shares of 25p each 40,000 10,000 40,000 10,000

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
Ordinary shares
At 1 January and 31 December 25,187 6,296 25,187 6,296

18. Share premium account and reserves
Share Capital Capital Capital

premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue
account reserve realised unrealised reserve

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Opening reserves as at 1 January 2004 14,123 1,248 85,734 (14,533) 4,097
Transfer on disposal of investments – – 4,467 (4,467) –
Net gain on sale of investments – – 12,132 – –
Decrease in unrealised depreciation – – – 11,793 –
Retained net revenue for year – – – – 634
Interest and management fee charged 

to capital, after taxation – – (1,499) – –

Closing reserves as at 31 December 2004 14,123 1,248 100,834 (7,207) 4,731

19. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
2004 2003

£’000 £’000

Opening shareholders’ funds 96,965 83,837

Revenue profits available for distribution 2,649 3,969
Ordinary dividend (2,015) (3,022)

Revenue surplus for the year 634 947
Recognised gains on investment portfolio 23,925 13,202
Management fee and finance costs charged to capital, after taxation (1,499) (1,021)

Movement in shareholders’ funds 23,060 13,128

Closing shareholders’ funds 120,025 96,965

20. Contingent liabilities

At 31 December 2004, investment purchases of £1,169,000 (31 December 2003: £1,343,000) had been authorised and
contractually committed.



40

H
gC

apital Trust plc
A

nnual report and accounts 2004

Shareholder Information

Financial calendar
The timing of the announcement and publication of the
Company’s results may normally be expected in the
months shown below:

February/March Preliminary results and final
dividend for year announced.
Annual report and financial
statements published.

April Annual General Meeting
Final dividend paid.

August Interim figures announced
and interim report published.

Dividend – 2004
The proposed final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2004 is 8.00p per share.

Ex-dividend date 16 March 2005
(shares transferred without dividend)

Record date 18 March 2005
(last date for registering transfers to receive the dividend)

Last date for registering 
DRIP instructions 11 April 2005

Dividend payment date 29 April 2005

Payment of dividends
Cash dividends will be sent by cheque to the first-named
shareholder at their registered address, together with a tax
voucher. Alternatively, dividends may be paid direct into a
shareholder’s bank account via BACS (Bankers’ Automated
Clearing Service). This may be arranged by contacting the
Company’s registrar, Computershare Investor Services PLC
(“Computershare”), on 0870 702 0131. Tax vouchers will be
sent to shareholders at their registered address, unless
other instructions have been given, to arrive on the
payment date.

Dividend reinvestment scheme (“DRIP”)
Shareholders may request that their dividends be used 
to purchase further shares in the Company. Dividend
reinvestment forms may be obtained from Computershare
on 0870 702 0131. Shareholders who have already opted for
dividend reinvestment do not need to re-apply. The last
date for registering for this service for the forthcoming
dividend is 5 April 2005.

Share price
The Company’s mid-market ordinary share price is
published daily in the Financial Times under the section
“Investment Companies”.

ISIN/SEDOL numbers
The ISIN/SEDOL numbers and mnemonic code for the
Company’s Ordinary shares are:
ISIN GB0003921052
SEDOL 0392105
Reuters code HGT.L

Share dealing
Investors wishing to purchase or sell shares in the
Company may do so through a stockbroker. Most banks
also offer this service.

Computershare’s telephone share dealing service is
available on 0870 703 0084. To use this service, you will
need your shareholder reference number, which is detailed
on your certificate.

Uncertificated Securities Regulations 1995 – CREST
The Company’s ordinary shares have joined CREST, an
electronic system for uncertificated securities trading.

Private investors can continue to retain their share
certificates and remain outside the CREST system. Private
investors are able to buy and sell their holdings in the
same way as they did prior to the introduction of CREST,
although there may be differences in dealing charges.

Income tax
Currently, all UK dividends are paid to stockholders net of
a tax credit of 10%. Changes to the tax regime mean that
from April 1999 non-tax payers are no longer able to
reclaim the tax credit.

Non-PEP and ISA stockholders liable to higher rates of tax
will be assessed for any additional tax through their annual
tax return.

Capital gains tax (CGT)
Investment trusts currently pay no CGT on gains made
within the portfolio. When investors sell all or part of their
holdings, they may be liable to CGT. For the tax year
2004/5, the first £8,200 per annum of such gains from all
sources is exempt.

Up to 5 April 1998 the cost of investments for CGT
purposes was adjusted to allow for inflation. However, from
6 April 1998 this indexation was replaced by a taper relief
and from this date chargeable gains will be reduced in line
with the length of time the investment has been held.

Investors who are in any doubt as to their liability for CGT
should seek professional advice.

PEP and ISA investments will continue to remain exempt
from CGT.

Please remember that we are unable to offer individual
investment or taxation advice. If you require such advice,
you should consult your professional adviser.

Risk factors
• Investments in unquoted companies which form the

majority of the Company’s investments, may not be as
readily realisable as investments in quoted companies.

• As the Company invests in Europe and in companies
that trade internationally, the value of its shares may be
affected by changes in rates of exchange.

• The Company invests in a portfolio of smaller-cap
companies, with enterprise values between £25 million
and £250 million, the performance of which can
fluctuate.

• The price at which the Company’s shares trade on the
London Stock Exchange is not the same as their net
asset value (although they are related) and therefore you
may realise returns which are lower or higher than NAV
performance.

• Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future
performance. The value of investments in the Company
and the income from it can fluctuate as the value of the
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underlying investments fluctuates. An investor may not
get back the amount originally invested.

• Investment in the Company involves an above-average
risk and is suitable only for financially sophisticated
investors who are capable of evaluating the risks and
merits of such investment and who have sufficient
resources to bear any loss that might result from such
investment. The Company invests in unquoted
companies. Whilst great care is taken in their valuation
such valuations cannot, by their nature, be exact.

Duration of the Company
At an Extraordinary General Meeting held in April 2003,
shareholders agreed to extend the life of the Company to
2011. The Articles of Association, as amended, now provide
for an ordinary resolution to be put to shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting in the year 2011, to continue the
life of the Company for a further five years and a similar
resolution will be put to the shareholders in 2016 and every
fifth year thereafter. If the resolution to continue the life of
the Company is not approved in 2011, an Extraordinary
General Meeting will be convened within six months after
the date of the AGM to wind up the Company voluntarily.

Nominee code
Where shares are held in a nominee company name, the
Company undertakes:

• to provide the nominee company with multiple copies 
of shareholder communications, so long as an indication
of quantities has been provided in advance; and

• to allow investors holding shares through a nominee
company to attend general meetings, provided the
correct authority from the nominee company is
available.

Nominee companies are encouraged to provide the
necessary authority to underlying shareholders to attend
the Company’s general meetings.

Publication of net asset value
The net asset value (“NAV”) per share of the Company is
calculated monthly with respect to cash, cash equivalents
and listed investments in the portfolio. Unquoted
investments are revalued in December and June. 

The NAV is released to the public through the London Stock
Exchange’s Regulatory News Service. Details of the ten
largest investments are released to the public quarterly. 

Shareholder enquiries
In the event of queries regarding your holding of shares,
please contact Computershare on 0870 702 0131. Changes
of name or address must be notified in writing to:

Computershare Investor Services PLC
PO Box 82 
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol BS99 7NH

Details relating to your holding can also be checked
through the Computershare website. As a security check,
specific information is required to gain access to an
individual’s account. This includes your shareholder
reference number, available from either your share
certificate or tax voucher. The address of the
Computershare website is:
www.computershare.com/investorcentre/UK

General enquiries about the Company should be directed
to:

The Secretary 
Hg Pooled Management Ltd
Third Floor
Minerva House
3-5 Montague Close
London SE1 9BB
Telephone: 020 7089 7888

By type of holder

Number % of total Number % of total
of shares 2004 2003 of holders 2004 2003

Nominee companies 16,776,242 66.6 65.4 267 50.3 37.7
Direct private investors 1,464,871 5.8 6.2 230 43.3 54.1
Others 6,945,642 27.6 28.4 34 6.4 8.2

25,186,755 100.0 100.0 531 100.0 100.0

By size of holding

Number % of total Number % of total
of shares 2004 2003 of holders 2004 2003

1 – 5,000 632,685 2.5 2.2 349 65.7 68.0
5,001 – 50,000 2,163,426 8.6 6.3 130 24.5 21.5
50,001 – 100,000 1,391,100 5.5 4.7 18 3.4 3.4
Over 100,000 20,999,544 83.4 86.8 34 6.4 7.1

25,186,755 100.0 100.0 531 100.0 100.0

Analysis of Shareholders
31 December 2004
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Glossary

Investment Trusts
Net asset value per share (“NAV”)
This is the value of the Company’s assets attributable 
to one ordinary share. It is calculated by dividing
“shareholders’ funds” by the total number of shares in
issue. For example, as at 31 December 2004, shareholders’
funds were £120,025,000 and there were 25,186,755
ordinary shares in issue; the NAV was therefore 476.5p
per share.

Shareholders’ funds are calculated by deducting current
and long-term liabilities, and any provision for liabilities and
charges, from the Company’s total assets.

Discount
Investment trust shares frequently trade at a discount to
NAV. This occurs when the share price is less than the NAV.
In this circumstance, the price that an investor pays or
receives for a share would be less than the value
attributable to it by reference to the underlying assets. The
discount is the difference between the share price and the
NAV, expressed as a percentage of the NAV. For example, if
the NAV were 400p and the share price were 360p, the
discount would be 10%.

Premium
A premium occurs when the share price is higher than 
the NAV and investors would therefore be paying more 
than the value attributable to the shares by reference to 
the underlying assets. For example, if the share price were
450p and the NAV were 400p, the premium would be 12.5%.

Discounts and premiums are mainly the consequence of
supply and demand for the shares on the stock market.

Total Return
The total return to shareholders comprises both changes in
the Company’s NAV or share price and dividends paid to
shareholders; it is calculated on the basis that dividends are
reinvested in the Company’s shares on the date the dividend
is paid.

The Company’s objective is to provide shareholders with
long term capital appreciation rather than dividend growth.
To maintain its status as an investment trust the Company
is obliged to distribute a proportion of its income by way of
dividend each year. Dividends are declared each year based
on the revenue after tax in that year, which varies from year
to year as a consequence of several factors, notably the
structure of the underlying investments and the return
received from them in the form of income. Accordingly, the
shareholders’ return which arises in the form of dividends,
as compared with NAV growth, can be expected to change
from year to year.

Private Equity
Expansion capital
The provision of capital to an existing, established business,
to finance organic growth or acquisitions - sometimes also
known as venture capital.

IPO (initial public offering)
An offering by a company of its share capital to the public
with a view to seeking an admission of its shares to a
recognised stock exchange.

IRR (internal rate of return)
The annual internal rate of return received by an investor 
in a fund. It is calculated from cash drawn from and
returned to the investor together with the residual value of
the fund unit.

LBO (leveraged buy-out)
The purchase of all or most of a company’s share capital,
usually by its managers, funded mainly by borrowings often
secured on the company’s assets, resulting in a post-
financing capital structure of the company which is 
heavily geared.

LP (limited partnership)
An organisation made up of a managing general partner
and limited partners, who invest money but have limited
liability, are not involved in day-to-day management, and
usually cannot lose more than their capital contribution.
Usually limited partners receive income, capital gains and
tax benefits; the general partner usually receives a fee and
a percentage of capital gains and income.

MBI (management buy-in)
A change of ownership, where an incoming management
team raises financial backing, normally a mix of equity and
debt, to acquire a business.

MBO (management buy-out)
A change of ownership, where the incumbent management
team raises financial backing, normally a mix of equity and
debt, to acquire a business it manages.

P2P (public to private)
The purchase of all of a listed company’s shares using a
special-purpose vehicle funded with a mixture of debt and
unquoted equity.

Quoted company
Any company whose shares are listed or traded on a
recognised stock exchange.

Unquoted company
Any company whose shares are not listed or traded on a
recognised stock exchange.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of
HgCapital Trust plc will be held at the Company’s offices at 
Third Floor, Minerva House, 3-5 Montague Close, London
SE1 9BB, on Tuesday 19 April 2005 at 12 noon to transact
the following business:

Ordinary business
1. To receive the report of the directors and the financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2004,
together with the report of the independent auditor
thereon.

2. To approve the directors’ remuneration report.

3. To declare a dividend of 8.00p per share.

4. To elect Mr R P Mountford as a director.

5. To elect Mr A H Murison as a director.

6. To re-elect Mr P L Brooke as a director.

7. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as independent
auditor to the Company.

8. To authorise the directors to determine the
independent auditor’s remuneration.

Special business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions
numbered 9 and 11 as special resolutions and resolution 10
as an ordinary resolution.

9. THAT in substitution for the Company’s existing
authority to make market purchases of ordinary shares
of 25p in the Company (“ordinary shares”), the
Company be and it is hereby authorised in accordance
with section 166 of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”)
to make market purchases of ordinary shares (within
the meaning of section 163 of the Act) provided that:

(i) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby
authorised to be purchased is 3,775,000;

(ii) the minimum price which may be paid for an
ordinary share shall be 25p;

(iii) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which
may be paid for an ordinary share shall be the
lower of 5% above the average of the market
values of the ordinary shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the
purchase and the net asset value per ordinary
share on the date of purchase; and

(iv) unless renewed, the authority hereby conferred
shall expire on 18 October 2006 save that the
Company may, prior to such expiry, enter into a
contract to purchase ordinary shares which will or
may be completed or executed wholly or partly
after such expiry.

10. THAT:

(i) the directors be and they are hereby generally and
unconditionally authorised, in accordance with
section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”),
to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot
relevant securities (as defined in that section) up
to an aggregate nominal amount of £314,800
provided that this authority shall expire on the
date of the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company after the passing of this resolution, but
so that this authority shall allow the Company,
acting by its directors, to make offers or
agreements before the expiry of this authority
which would or might require relevant securities
to be allotted after such expiry;

(ii) all authorities previously conferred under section
80 of the Act be and they are hereby revoked,
provided that such revocation shall not have
retrospective effect; and

(iii) words and expressions defined in or for the
purposes of Part IV of the Act shall bear the same
meanings in this resolution.

11. THAT, subject to and conditional upon the passing as an
ordinary resolution of the resolution numbered 10 set
out in the notice of this meeting, the directors be and
they are hereby empowered, pursuant to section 95 of
the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”), to allot equity
securities (as defined in section 94 of the Act) of the
Company for cash pursuant to the authority conferred
by the previous resolution as if section 89 (1) of the Act
did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this
power shall be limited to the allotment of equity
securities:

(i) which are, or are to be, wholly paid up in cash up
to an aggregate nominal value of £314,800 at a
price of not less than the net asset value per
ordinary share as at the most recent practicable
date, as determined by the directors;

(ii) (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i)
above) in connection with issues by way of rights
in favour of all holders of ordinary shares where
the equity securities respectively attributable to
the interests of all such holders are either
proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the
respective numbers of ordinary shares held by
them or are otherwise allotted in accordance with
the rights conferred on such equity securities (but
subject in either case to such exclusions or other
arrangements as the Board may deem necessary
or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements
or legal practical problems under the laws of, or
the requirements of, any regulatory body or any
stock exchange in any territory or otherwise
howsoever);
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Notice of Annual General Meeting continued

Notes:
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. Proxy forms must reach the office of the Company’s registrars in Bristol by 12 noon on 17 April 2005. A form of proxy is
provided to shareholders with the annual report. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not prevent a member
from attending the meeting and voting in person.

3. To be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting (and for the purpose of the determination by the Company of the number
of votes they may cast), members must be entered on the Company’s register of members at close of business on
17 April 2005 (“the specified time”). If the meeting is adjourned to a time not more than 48 hours after the time
applicable to the original meeting, the specified time will also apply for the purpose of determining the entitlement of
members to attend and vote (and for determining the numbers of votes they may cast) at the adjourned meeting. If,
however, the meeting is adjourned for a longer period then, to be so entitled, members must be entered on the
Company’s register of members at the time which is 48 hours before the time fixed for the adjourned meeting or, if the
Company gives notice of the adjourned meeting, at any time specified in that notice.

4. No service contracts exist between the Company and any of the directors, who hold office in accordance with letters of
appointment and the Articles of Association.

and shall expire on the earlier of the date which is
15 months after the date on which this resolution
is passed and the date of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company after the passing of this
resolution, save that the Company may before
such expiry make an offer or agreement which
would or might require equity securities to be
allotted after such expiry;

(iii) all powers previously conferred under section 95
of the Act be and they are hereby revoked,
provided that such revocation shall not have
retrospective effect; and

(iv) words and expressions defined in or for the
purposes of Part IV of the Act shall bear the same
meanings in this resolution.

By order of the Board
Hg Pooled Management Ltd
Secretary
8 March 2005
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